
 
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

 
TO:   Members of the Commission on Local Government 
FROM:  DHCD Staff 
DATE:  October 25, 2024 
SUBJECT:  Draft Agenda and November Regular Meeting Materials 

 

Dear Commissioners: 

We are looking forward to the November regular meeting, which will be held in Richmond at DHCD’s 
offices on Friday, November 1 at 10:00 am. The address and virtual login information, should you 
need it, is on the agenda in this packet.  

Please find enclosed the following: 

1. Draft agenda for the November Regular Meeting of the Commission; 

2. Draft minutes of the September Regular Meeting; 

3. Draft minutes of the Warrenton/Fauquier VSA Oral Presentations; 

4. Draft minutes of the Warrenton/Fauquier VSA Public Hearing; 

5. News article of interest to the Commission; 

6. The draft report on the Warrenton/Fauquier VSA; 

7. The draft 2024 Cash Proffer Report; 

8. Commemorative resolutions for Commissioner Linderman and Grace Wheaton; 

9. Proposed regular meeting dates for 2025. 

If you have any questions or require additional information, please feel free to contact me at 804-
310-7151 or legrand.northcutt@dhcd.virginia.gov   

We hope you have a wonderful weekend and look forward to seeing you in Richmond for the 
meeting.  

mailto:legrand.northcutt@dhcd.virginia.gov


 
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

 
AGENDA  

Commission on Local Government 
Regular Meeting 

November 1, 2024, 10:00 a.m. 
Main Street Centre Conference Room 101 
600 E. Main Street, Richmond, VA 23219 

 
FOR VIRTUAL ATTENDANCE 

Microsoft Teams 
Join the meeting 

Meeting ID: 257 091 615 245 
Passcode: BxgTzz 
Dial in by phone 
+1 434-230-0065 

Phone conference ID: 866 271 602# 
 

1. This meeting is being held in a government building with a security check point. Members of the 

public are encouraged to attend the meeting electronically. Please contact LeGrand Northcutt 

(legrand.northcutt@dhcd.virginia.gov) for additional information on how to attend in-person. 

2. The Public Comment portion of the meeting will be limited to thirty (30) minutes. Each person 

wishing to give comments before the Commission should limit their comments to three (3) 

minutes. These rules are subject to change without notice by the Commission Chair. It is 

encouraged to pre-register for public comment by contacting LeGrand Northcutt 

(legrand.northcutt@dhcd.virginia.gov) in advance of the meeting. 

3. Members of the public viewing the meeting through the Microsoft Teams option are required to 

mute themselves during the meeting unless called upon by the Commission Chair to speak. The 

CLG reserves the right to remove from its virtual meetings anyone who does not abide by these 

rules. 

4. Access to meeting materials for members of the public is available on the corresponding 

meeting page of the Virginia Regulatory Town Hall website and on Commonwealth Calendar. 

  

https://teams.microsoft.com/dl/launcher/launcher.html?url=%2F_%23%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%3Ameeting_MGFkZmVmNDAtYjU2NC00MDg5LTg3NDctMjFjNzczNjM5NmJm%40thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%2522620ae5a9-4ec1-4fa0-8641-5d9f386c7309%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522bb6ed30c-46e7-4b6f-ace5-48810243346f%2522%257d%26anon%3Dtrue&type=meetup-join&deeplinkId=312faed2-9346-4ba4-8b4f-b846a81d06c6&directDl=true&msLaunch=true&enableMobilePage=true&suppressPrompt=true
https://teams.microsoft.com/dl/launcher/launcher.html?url=%2F_%23%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%3Ameeting_MGFkZmVmNDAtYjU2NC00MDg5LTg3NDctMjFjNzczNjM5NmJm%40thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%2522620ae5a9-4ec1-4fa0-8641-5d9f386c7309%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522bb6ed30c-46e7-4b6f-ace5-48810243346f%2522%257d%26anon%3Dtrue&type=meetup-join&deeplinkId=312faed2-9346-4ba4-8b4f-b846a81d06c6&directDl=true&msLaunch=true&enableMobilePage=true&suppressPrompt=true
mailto:legrand.northcutt@dhcd.virginia.gov
mailto:legrand.northcutt@dhcd.virginia.gov
https://townhall.virginia.gov/
https://commonwealthcalendar.virginia.gov/


   
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

I. Call to Order (Chair) 
 

II. Administration 
a. Approval of the draft agenda  (Chair) 
b. Approval of the minutes of previous meetings (Chair) 

i. Warrenton/Fauquier VSA Oral Presentation on September 16, 2024 
ii. Warrenton/Fauquier VSA Public Hearing on September 16, 2024 

iii. Regular meeting on September 17, 2024 
c. Public comment period  (Chair) 
d. Staff’s report            (Staff) 

 
III. Cases Before the Commission  

a. Current cases  (Staff) 
i. Approval of the Warrenton/Fauquier VSA Report 

1. Staff presentation 
2. Commission deliberation and action   (Chair) 

b. Potential cases 
i. Update on City of Emporia  (Staff) 

 
IV. Regulatory Items   

a. Update on regulatory reduction action (Staff) 
b. Update on SB645 emergency regulations  (Staff) 

 
V. 2024 Cash Proffer Survey and Report 

a. Staff presentation (Staff) 
b. Commission deliberation and action   (Chair) 

 
VI. Commemorative Resolutions 

a. Diane Linderman (Staff) 
i. Commission deliberation and action   (Chair) 

b. Grace Wheaton (Staff) 
i. Commission deliberation and action   (Chair) 

 
VII. Schedule of Regular Meetings 

a. Proposed 2025 Regular Meeting Schedule (Staff) 
i. Staff presentation 

ii. Commission deliberation and action   (Chair) 
 
VIII. Other Business (Chair) 
 
IX. Adjournment (Chair) 



 

Commission on Local Government 

September 17, 2024 

8:30 am 

Warrenton Townhall 

21 Main Street 

Warrenton, VA 20186 

 

 

Members Present (virtually) Members Absent 

Edwin Rosado (chair) 

Diane Linderman 

Ceasor Johnson 

Terry Payne 

 

DHCD and OAG staff present for 

all or part of the meeting:  

Bryan Horn, Director 

LeGrand Northcutt, Senior Policy 

Analyst 

Chase Sawyer, Policy Manager 

Trisha Lindsey, Policy and 

Legislative Director 

Justin Bell, Asisstant Attorney 

General 

  

Ceasor Johnson 

 

 

Call to Order Mr. Edwin Rosado, Chairman of the Commission on Local 

Government, called the regular meeting to order at 8:40 am.  

 

Roll Call 

 

 

 

 

Approval of Agenda 

 

 

 

Approval of Minutes  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Comment 

The roll was called by Mr. LeGrand Northcutt, Senior Policy 

Analyst, DHCD. Mr. Northcutt reported that a quorum of 

Commissioners Rosado, Linderman, Johnson, and Payne was 

present.  

 

A motion was made by Ms. Linderman and seconded by Mr. 

Payne to approve the draft agenda. The motion passed 

unanimously on a voice vote. 

 

A motion was made by Mr. Linderman and seconded by Mr. 

Lauterberg to approve the minutes from the July 23, 2024 

regular meeting. The motion passed unanimously on a voice 

vote.  

 

A motion was made by Mr. Payne and seconded by Ms. 

Linderman to approve the minutes from the August 26, 2024 

special meeting. The motion passed unanimously on a voice 

vote.  

 

Mr. Rosado opened the floor for public comment.  



Commission on Local Government 

Regular Meeting – September 17, 2024  

Page 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Staff’s Report 

 

 

After seeing no speakers, Mr. Rosado closed public 

comment. 

 

Mr. Justin Bell, Assistant Attorney General, introduced 

himself to the Commission.  Guests present in person 

included Mr. Roy Barnett, representing Van Meter 

Companies, and Jay Ellington, Executive Director of the 

Crater Planning District Commission.  

 

Mr. Northcutt updated the commission on efforts by the City 

of Emporia to revert to a Town and the Commission’s 

regulatory reduction package. 

 

Cases Before the Commission 

 

Rappahannock/Washington VSA  

 

 

Fauquier/Warrenton VSA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emergency Regulations 

Implementing SB645 (2024) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mr. Northcutt reported that the Voluntary Settlement 

Agreement between the Town of Washington and 

Rappahannock County has been approved by both localities 

and will be filed with a special court soon.  

 

Mr. Lauterberg asked Mr. Barnett to respond to several 

issues that were raised during public comment to the 

Commission regarding the development’s impact on the 

Town’s sewer capacity and traffic. Mr. Barnett stated he 

would send staff the Town’s most recent sewer capacity 

study, the Town’s commercial zoning ordinance, and the 

traffic impact analysis that was submitted with the rezoning 

application to the County. 

 

Mr. Northcutt presented the internal review timeline for the 

report on the Voluntary Settlement Agreement to the 

Commission. There were no changes, and the Commission 

will endeavor to adopt its report on or before the November 

1, 2024 regular meeting.  

 

Mr. Horn gave an introductory comment and thanked the 

Commission and staff for their hard work preparing the 

emergency regulations for publication and eventual 

implementation. 

 

Mr. Northcutt presented proposed amendments and 

comments on the emergency regulations implementing 

SB645. The first set of amendments incorporated comments 

from Commissioners from the August special meeting. The 

second set of amendments incorporated suggestions from the 

Auditor of Public Accounts. The Commission also received 

one comment letter from the Virginia Municipal League.  



Commission on Local Government 

Regular Meeting – September 17, 2024  

Page 3 

 

 

A motion was made by Ms. Linderman and seconded by Mr. 

Payne to adopt the emergency regulations implementing 

SB645 as presented by staff and submit them for executive 

branch review. The motion passed unanimously on a voice 

vote.  

 

Assessments of Mandates on 

Local Governments 

Mr. Northcutt presented the outstanding assessments of 

mandates on local governments from FY2024. He will send 

the assessments to the Governor and General Assembly after 

the meeting.  

  

Catalog of Mandates on Local 

Governments 

Mr. Northcutt presented the proposed changes to the catalog 

of mandates on local governments for 2024 edition of the 

catalog. There were 22 new and newly identified mandates 

added to the catalog, and 6 mandates removed.  

A motion was made by Mr. Lauterberg and seconded by Ms. 

Linderman to approve the changes to the catalog of 

mandates on local governments as presented by staff. 

 

Commission Work Groups 

 

SB546 Study 

 

 

 

 

 

Fiscal Stress Report Workgroup 

Mr. Northcutt gave an update on the SB546 study on income 

tax reductions in double-distressed localities. Mr. Northcutt 

will distribute the report to the Commissioners after the 

meeting. Mr. Northcutt and Mr. Payne will give comments 

back to the Department of Taxation. Any other commissioners 

who have comments on the report should send them to Mr. 

Northcutt by September 30th.  

 

Mr. Lauterberg updated the Commission on the Fiscal Stress 

Report work group’s progress, findings, and 

recommendations. The work group would like to add two new 

measures to the Fiscal Stress Report: a locality’s fund balance 

and its debt. It would also like to contract the services of a 

researcher in the field to help transition the Fiscal Stress 

Report to a new format. Ms. Lindsey updated the Commission 

on procurement possibilities and next steps that staff will take 

to potentially implement the suggestions of the work group. 

 

Future Meetings The November regular meeting will be held on November 1, 

2024, at 11:00 am in person, place to be determined. 

 

Other Business There was no other commission business 

 

Adjournment A motion was made by Ms. Linderman and seconded by Mr. 

Payne to adjourn the meeting of the Commission; The motion 



Commission on Local Government 

Regular Meeting – September 17, 2024  

Page 4 

 

passed on a unanimous voice vote. The meeting adjourned at 

9:50 am. 

 



Town of Warrenton – Fauquier County 
Oral Presentations of Voluntary Settlement Agreement 

Commission on Local Government 
September 16th, 2024 

1:00 PM 
Warrenton Townhall 

Warrenton, VA 

Members Present Members Absent 
Edwin Rosado 
Diane Linderman 
Terry Payne 
Robert Lauterberg 

Virtual  
Ceasor Johnson 

DHCD staff present for all or part of the meeting: 
Legrand Northcutt, Senior Policy Analyst 
Chase Sawyer, Policy Manager 

None 

Call to Order Mr. Edwin Rosado, Chairman of the Commission on Local 
Government, called the meeting to order at 1:00 pm. 
Commissioners Rosado, Lauterberg, Linderman, and Payne were 
present. Commissioner Johnson joined the meeting virtually at 
1:40 pm. 

Introductions 

Overview  

Closing the Record 

Opening Statement  

Presentation of Evidence  

Mr. Rosado introduced members of the Commission and staff. 

Mr. Northcutt gave an overview of the Commission’s review of 
the voluntary settlement agreement (VSA) between the Town of 
Warrenton and Fauquier County.  

A motion was made by Ms. Linderman and seconded by Mr. 
Payne to close the record for public comment on September 30th, 
2024. The motion passed unanimously on a voice vote (YEAS: 
Rosado, Linderman, Payne, Lauterburg, NAYS: None). 

Mr. John Foote, attorney for the developer, Van Meter 
Companies, gave an opening statement explaining the history of 
the agreement and that there was support for the VSA among the 
developer and both localities.  

Mr. Roy Barnett, Group President, Land Acquisition and 
Planning for Van Meter Companies, presented on the technical 
aspects of the development plan on the site that would be 

DRAFT



Commission on Local Government  
Warrenton and Fauquier VSA Oral Presentations – September 16, 2024  
Page 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commissioner Questions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Closing Statement 
 
 
Closing Remarks 

annexed by the Town. The goal of Van Meter Companies is to 
provide a high-quality residential and commercial development 
that meets the housing needs of the Town, specifically housing 
for families and seniors, while protecting the environment and 
natural views of the area. He highlighted plans to mitigate 
flooding on the site, plans to build housing for certain income 
groups, a food pantry and office space for senior services. 
 
Ms. Linderman asked about the water supply running to the 
development. Mr. Barnett responded that the property has several 
wells, one of which meets the requirements for a public water 
source. That well will be given to the Town if the annexation is 
approved.  
 
Ms. Linderman also asked why the developer had to be a party to 
the agreement. Mr. Foote responded that the developer’s 
commitment to replace the Taylor Run pump station, along with 
other issues in the agreement, required them to be parties to the 
contract.  
 
Mr. Payne asked for additional information about why the age 
45-55 demographic is decreasing in the Town while other age 
ranges are increasing. Mr. Barnett answered that, because the 
population is growing seven times faster than the housing 
construction, growing families cannot find houses in the Town, 
and are moving away.  
 
Mr. Lauterberg asked for clarification of what the developer was 
proffering with respect to the expansion of Alwington Boulevard. 
 
Mr. Northcutt, staff for the Commission, confirmed with Mr. 
Barnett that all properties that lie between the development and 
the current Town boundary have been included in the VSA, but 
that the easement for extending Alwington Boulevard beyond the 
development is a separate agreement.  
 
Mr. Foote gave a closing statement, again expressing each 
party’s support for the VSA.  
 
Mr. Rosado gave closing remarks on behalf of the Commission.  
 
Mr. Northcutt shared the Commission will issue a report on the 
VSA on November 1, 2024. A public hearing on the Warrenton 
and Fauquier VSA will be held at 7:00 PM.  
 

DRAFT



Commission on Local Government  
Warrenton and Fauquier VSA Oral Presentations – September 16, 2024  
Page 3 
 
Adjournment Ms. Linderman moved, and Mr. Lauterberg seconded, to adjourn 

the meeting. The motion passed unanimously on a voice vote 
(YEAS: Rosado, Linderman, Payne, Lauterburg, NAYS: None). 
The meeting adjourned at 1:56 pm.  

 

DRAFT



Town of Warrenton – Fauquier County 
Public Hearing 

Commission on Local Government 
September 16, 2024 

7:00 PM 
Warrenton Townhall 

Warrenton, VA 
 
Members Present Members Absent 
Edwin Rosado 
Diane Linderman 
Terry Payne 
Robert Lauterberg 
 
DHCD staff present for all or part of the hearing:  
LeGrand Northcutt, Senior Policy Analyst 
Chase Sawyer, Policy Manager 
  

Ceasor Johnson 
 
 

Call to Order Mr. Edwin Rosado, Chairman of the Commission on Local 
Government, called the public hearing to order at 7:00 PM.  
 

Introductions 
 
Commission’s Review 
 
 
 
 
 
Public Testimony 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Rosado introduced members of the Commission and staff.  
 
Mr. Legrand Northcutt, Senior Policy Analyst, DHCD, gave an 
overview of the Commission’s review of the voluntary settlement 
agreement (VSA) between the Town of Warrenton and Fauquier 
County. The public comment period is open until September 30, 
2024. The Commission will issue a report on November 1, 2024.  
 
Mr. Rosado opened the floor for public testimony.  
 
Ms. Cindy Burbank, resident of the Town representing Project 
Fauquier, spoke against the agreement, noting that while the 
project itself will not strain any local resources, the cumulative 
impact of all approved projects in the Town will have an adverse 
impact that needs to be accounted for.  
 
Robert Lee, former County Administrator in Fauquier County 
and current member of the County Planning District Commission 
for the Marshall Magisterial district, spoke in favor of the 
agreement and the development, noting that it is a well-desigend 
community and a model for cooperative development between a 
developer, the Town and the County.  
 
David Horden, former member of the Town Council spoke 
against the agreement. Mr. Horden noted that the Town’s sewer 

DRAFT



Commission on Local Government 
Warrenton and Fauquier VSA Public Hearing – September 16, 2024  
Page 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Closing Comment 
 
 
 
Adjournment 

system is almost at capacity and asked the Commission to 
consider the cost of and legal obstacles to future upgrades to the 
system. 
 
Ken Alm, former member of the Town and County Planning 
Commission, supported the agreement and praised the localities 
for working on this and noted that this development. He believes 
that it is the best proposed development of the Arrington property 
that he has seen. The development is also in accordance with the 
County’s comprehensive plan for urban development in the area. 
 
Larry Covalac, former member of the Fauquier County Planning 
District Commission, expressed concerns with the agreement. 
While the project has merits, he does not believe that the Town 
should be pursuing large, transformational projects. He is also 
concerned about increased traffic and has not seen a traffic 
impact analysis.  
 
Mr, Rosado gave a closing comment and expressed his 
appreciation to the Town, County, and members of the public 
who spoke at the hearing.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Lauterberg and seconded by Mr. 
Payne to adjourn the public hearing; The motion passed on a 
unanimous voice vote (YEAS: Rosado, Linderman, Payne, 
Lauterburg, NAYS: None). The meeting adjourned at 7:26 PM.  
 

 DRAFT



�����������	���
� �����������������������	����������������������������� ��!�"#�������$������#����

!����	�� ���%����� �������#���&����&����&��������&�����&���&������&����&����& ��!&'#������&�����&�#����&���#&!�����&��#���&(�#)����&��* ��+



���������	
��

����������������� ���������������������
���������� �!���
��
�������������"
�#�$�����
��%�������������

#������"��&������"������������'�����'���'�����
��'�����'�!�'�
��
��'����'����'"
�#'(�����
�'������'�������'�����'#������'������')
�*
�
�'�+ ��,



�����������	���
� �����������������������	����������������������������� ��!�"#�������$������#����

!����	�� ���%����� �������#���&����&����&��������&�����&���&������&����&����& ��!&'#������&�����&�#����&���#&!�����&��#���&(�#)����&��* +�,



������������

�	
��
�����	���� ������������������������������������� 	������������!�!����"��#�$%�������&�������%�����!

#�����

"���'���
��"�
�����
%����(�����(����(���������(������(� 	(�������(���!(!���("��#()%������(������(�%�����!(����%(#�����!(��%!��(*�%+����(��, �
-



�����������	���
� �����������������������	����������������������������� ��!�"#�������$������#����

!����	�� ���%����� �������#���&����&����&��������&�����&���&������&����&����& ��!&'#������&�����&�#����&���#&!�����&��#���&(�#)����&��* ��+



�����������	���
� �����������������������	����������������������������� ��!�"#�������$������#����

!����	�� ���%����� �������#���&����&����&��������&�����&���&������&����&����& ��!&'#������&�����&�#����&���#&!�����&��#���&(�#)����&��* ��+



�����������	���
� �����������������������	����������������������������� ��!�"#�������$������#����

!����	�� ���%����� �������#���&����&����&��������&�����&���&������&����&����& ��!&'#������&�����&�#����&���#&!�����&��#���&(�#)����&��* +�,



������������

�	
��
�����	���� ������������������������������������� 	������������!�!����"��#�$%�������&�������%�����!

#�����

"���'���
��"�
�����
%����(�����(����(���������(������(� 	(�������(���!(!���("��#()%������(������(�%�����!(����%(#�����!(��%!��(*�%+����(��, -
.



�����������	���
� �����������������������	����������������������������� ��!�"#�������$������#����

!����	�� ���%����� �������#���&����&����&��������&�����&���&������&����&����& ��!&'#������&�����&�#����&���#&!�����&��#���&(�#)����&��* +�+



�����������	
����������������	���	������	�����������������������������������
�	�	�	��	��������	����������� ����!� �����"������	��#	
�	��	��$%��&'&(����&)**�"!�+,-./0123�4�5675
����	������������������8���	�������������"������#�������	��������!����	�#���9:;<=�>;?@>A<ABC�>@C<�DBBE�FB>B@CBG�HIJ>A?�IHG@<BC�;K�<=BLIBC<A;K�;M�JFB@EAKN�IH�<=B�KB@F>O�PQROB@FR;>G�S;AK<�C?=;;>H@F<KBFC=AHTUVWXVWY�XVW�UZ[[Z\]̂ _̀Yabc\]Ŵ�dZXe�df̀gXe�hfZgX�̂iVff[�jZkẐZfg�lZ[[�jWif̀m[W�ZgXfZgjWmWgjWgX�jẐXYZiX̂�Ẑ�̂XZ[[�̀gjWiZjWjn

opqrst

uvv�1wxyz{�|}y{x~���~

����������������� ������������������������������������������������������������������������� ��¡¢����������£�� ��¤£�� ��

��������¥¥¥¦¥���¦��¡���£��§¡�̈������������§�©§�ª�¥���§¥«££§����������§�����§���������§«����§£���§£�����§����§���§¥������� ��¡�§��������£�§ �§�£�� �� ��ª



��������	�
����
����������	���������������������������	�������������������	���������������������������������������	��������������������	�������������������� ����!���"�	����#���	���	$�����������������%���������������	�����������	��������������&��������		�����	����������������������������������'����(��	���������������������	��������	������	�	������)*'�������������	����������������������+�������#		����������������������������������������������������������������������		�������������������,�����$������������������������������������������������������$������������	�����������������������	������%)�����������	�����������-�����$�������������������������������������������$������������������	��	�.�/0��	��	���������������&�(��	��	�����%0���������������$��������������	���/�$���������	������������&%)���������$�������������1�������������������������12�������$���	��������&(��	��	������������	����������	����������������������������������3��	�����������������������	�������������������������	���������������	����������	���������		���%�������������������������������������	�&�	���	�����%)��4�	�����������$������	�����������	�	�����������.����������������������������������$��������	����������������������&%)����������������$��������	��������&�(��	������)*'���%)������������������������������$������������������������������	��������������������������	���������������	����������������$��������������	�������	���	���	������������5	�����		6�	���������&)������	�����������������	����������������������	����������������������������������������������������	��������-���������������������������	�%�������������������������������������	������$��������������������������������	������	�����	�������$���$�����������	��$�������������������������������&%)���������������������������������	�
����
����������$���������������������������������$���$���������������&� ����!���"�	�	������������������������%���������788�9:;<=>�?@<>;ABCBA

DEFGHFGHI�JKEL�MN OPQR�OSTT�UVWXYXQPZ[�UQP\\�][UVQQ\V̂I�SX_VU�TPQ̀�TZ][Q̀�XUaU�bZY�OP\\PX_Uc]YdeU�WYVbVYV[fV�c̀�gfQZcVY

RQQWUKFFhhhihRYZiZYdF\ZfX\jdZkVY[_V[QFGEGHjEljDmFhPQRjhnffjUVWXYXQPZ[jUQP\\j][UVQQ\V̂jnX_VUjfPQ̀jfZ][Q̀jXUaUjbZYjhP\\PX_Uc]YdUjWYVbVYV[fVjc̀jZfQZcVY GFm



����������	
��
���	��	�������
����	
��	�����	����
���������	���������
�	�
�	�����������
����������	�
������������
������	����	�������������	
����������
������	����
�
�
������
������������������
�	� �� �	����
	 ���������	 �
����!"##��$��	�������
��	�������������%&%'����(
��
������������������
�	��	�	���	�� 	�������
�
�
	 ������
��������������	�� ��������
	 ��	����	������������
���	����������	������	 �
������ �	��	
�����	���� ������	�
����
	 ��)�
��������
����	
��	
���
����
���������	��
�	�
�	�����
�������*+	�	����������	����� ���������	� 
������ ������	��������	�
�����	�����	����	����	������	�����
�
�������	��������	����
��������������
	 ��������
���������,	�� �-���.,��������
��/�����0
	 �0���	 ����������	��	����� ���	
���	��	���
��	��	�����
�	�����
�����������	�	��	��������	����
�	�
�	�	��	������������������	��������
	
������������������	��	�������������
	����$���
1����
	���������	���������������	���%&%2�������� �����	�	�������
��	�3���
������������������	� ������
�
���4!2�"��
��
���
��	���$��	� �����������
���	��	���
	 5������
�
�
	 ��	�� ��3�	�������
	
��������������	������	���	���������������
�
	
�����������������
���	��������	 ������	���	�
�
������	��	���������������� �	���)�
��� �������	��	����
�	��
�
�
���+��	�������	
�����(
��
���������
	 ������
�������������������
���	��	���	� ���������������	
����	��������	��
���������	
�������	�����	�������	����
�
�
����
	��	��������
��*6����������������	�	�����7	��	�����������������
����
���	��������	�
��	�������������
������
���������3�������6���� ��*(��������	���
���	���������	�
���	��	������������� ���5�������	
������������������������	��	����
	 5������	���/�����0
	 �0���	 �������
�������
��
�����	�	����	�	�� ����*�����	��������	
�	
���	������	���	����	��	�
	��������
�� ��
�	�
��	������	���������	�	
�����������
��������7������	������	
������ �	������������	����	���������������	��������
����	�����
�������	�	����
	 5��������	��������	�
	������
�
�
	 ��	�� �
�%&%'�����
���	��	�	�������	 ���	���	��	���
��	��	�����������	�
��������	����	���������	������������������	����
	 ������
��	���������
���	����
�
�
���899�:;<=>?�@A=?<BCDCB

EFGHIGHIJ�KLFM�NO PQRS�PTUU�VWXYZYRQ[\�VRQ]]�̂\VWRR]W_J�TỲ WV�UQRa�U[̂\Ra�YVbV�c[Z�PQ]]QỲ Vd̂ZefV�XZWcWZW\gW�da�hgR[dWZ

SRRXVLGGiiijiSZ[j[ZeG][gY]ke[lWZ\̀ W\RGHFHIkFmkEnGiQRSkioggkVWXYZYRQ[\kVRQ]]k̂\VWRR]W_koỲ WVkgQRakg[̂\RakYVbVkc[ZkiQ]]QỲ Vd̂ZeVkXZWcWZW\gWkdak[gR[dWZ MGn



��������	�
������������������������������������ ��!�"#�$�%&'()�*��������� ��!��+�#�����,����� ����#�� -�.)

/01234�56789:58�:;;6<=�4>8349�834�56?78@�69�834�5>8@�86�849A>7:84�834�56789:58�:8�:7@�B6>78C@�768>D@>7E�834�68349�;65:;>8@FG�:5569H>7E�86�834�94;4:=4I�/J8�83:8�B6>78F�849A>7:8>67�6D�834K6>78�=5366;�=@=84A�5:7�8:L4�4M458�:=�4:9;@�:=�834�47H�6D�834�D6;;6<>7E�=5366;�@4:9IGN:9=67�86;H�OPQR�83:8�S:A4=�T>8@�T6?78@�<6?;H�744H�86�94B;:54�:�H>U>=>67�:HA>7>=89:8>67C?>;H>7E�>7�:HH>8>67�86�V7H>7E�=B:54�>7�834�56?78@�D69�=6A4�WXX�A>HH;4�=5366;�=8?H478=�>D834�H456?B;>7E�<:=�V7:;>Y4HI/O4ZU4�C447�8:;L>7E�:C6?8�:�74<�E6U497A478�547849FG�N:9=67�=:>HI�/O6?;H�<4�744H�:�=B68D69�6?9�=5366;�:HA>7�>7�6?9�74<�E6U497A478�547849[�13494Z=�K?=8�=6�A:7@�83>7E=�83:8�:949>H>7E�67�83>=IG\]̂_ àb]c�daefghifhj � àb]c�̂aefghifhj klccl]i_mnĝolbp�qbo]i]g]r>5L�>=�:�E4749:;�:==>E7A478�94B69849�D65?=4H�67�834�5>8>4=�6D�O>;;>:A=C?9EF�P:AB867:7H�s?M6;LI�P4�K6>74H�OPQR�>7�tXtu�:D849�A6U>7E�86�v>9E>7>:I�R9>E>7:;;@�D96A�N6=J7E4;4=�T6?78@F�r>5L�B94U>6?=;@�56U494H�5>8@�E6U497A478�>7�w:73:88:7F�xsF�D69�r4<=Q:H>6�xwJrI134�C4=8�<:@�86�94:53�r>5L�>=�U>:�4A:>;�:8�7>5LIA57:A:9:y<396I69EIz���!��#��!�-��{��,�|�{�$�#�}~����������������~���������������������
���������������������

 ¡¢£¤¢£¤¥�¦§¡̈�©ª «¬®�« °̄°�±²³́µ́¬¶·�±¬̧̧�¹·±²̧²º¥�̄́ »²±�°¬¼�°¶¹·¼�́±½±�¾¶µ�«¬̧̧¬́»±¿¹µÀÁ±�³µ²¾²µ²·Â²�¿¼�ÃÂ¶¿²µ

®³±§¢¢ÄÄÄÅÄ®µ¶Å¶µÀ¢̧¶Ấ Æ̧À¶Ç²µ·»²·¢£¡£¤Æ¡ÈÆ É¢Ä¬®ÆÄÊÂÂÆ±²³́µ́¬¶·Æ±¬̧̧Æ¹·±²̧²ºÆẾ»²±ÆÂ¬¼ÆÂ¶¹·¼Ǽ±½±Æ¾¶µÆÄ¬̧̧¬́»±¿¹µÀ±Æ³µ²¾²µ²·Â²Æ¿¼Æ¶Â¶¿²µ ¤¢É



��������	
�
�
�������������������������� !"#��$��#�%������&'����(� "�)�*�+�,�*-�".�/0��1%�23%3422545����6�#�-�789*�4�*:

;<<�=>?@AB�CD@B?EFGFE

HIJKLJKLM�NOIP�QR STUV�SWXX�YZ[\]\UT̂_�YUT̀̀�a_YZUÙZbM�W\cZY�XTUd�X̂ a_Ud�\YeY�f̂]�ST̀̀T\cYga]hiY�[]ZfZ]Z_jZ�gd�kjÛgZ]

VUU[YOJJlllmlV]̂m̂]hJ̀̂j\̀nĥoZ]_cZ_UJKIKLnIpnHqJlTUVnlrjjnYZ[\]\UT̂_nYUT̀̀na_YZUÙZbnr\cZYnjTUdnĵa_Udn\YeYnf̂]nlT̀̀T\cYga]hYn[]ZfZ]Z_jZngdn̂jÛgZ] NJq



����������	�
������������
��
�����������������������������	�������������������	� ��!
 �������"������!��
����
����#�$�%
���&�������$���'(�����!�
�"�����!��
)�*�(��!��+
����
�����)�!����!��!���!)�!����	�))�!�	�����!����,�-��!���
��	��������������
��!
�������$!
�&���������)�����������+�������.����������/����0�*�����#��	+���/� �
��+
������'�����/� �
��+
�����)�!�/!
���&�/��
�&/	'�/��
�&

122�345678�9:685;<=<;

>?@AB@ABC�DE?F�GH IJKL�IMNN�OPQRSRKJTU�OKJVV�WUOPKKVPXC�MRYPO�NJKZ�NTWUKZ�RO[O�\TS�IJVVJRYO]WŜ_O�QSP\PSPÙP�]Z�à KT]PS

LKKQOE@@bbbcbLSTcTŜ@VT̀RVd̂TePSUYPUK@A?ABd?fd>g@bJKLdbh̀̀dOPQRSRKJTUdOKJVVdWUOPKKVPXdhRYPOd̀JKZd̀TWUKZdRO[Od\TSdbJVVJRYO]WŜOdQSP\PSPÙPd]ZdT̀KT]PS g@g



REPORT ON THE  

TOWN OF WARRENTON –  

FAUQUIER COUNTY  

VOLUNTARY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

Commission on Local Government 

Department of Housing and Community Development 

Commonwealth of Virginia 

http://www.dhcd.virginia.gov 

November 2024 

DRAFT



2 

 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Proceedings of the Commission...................................................................................................... 5 

Overview of the Proposed Agreement ............................................................................................ 7 

Characteristics of the Town and County ......................................................................................... 8 

Characteristics of the Annexation Area: Alwington Property ...................................................... 10 

Scope and Standard of Review ..................................................................................................... 13 

Findings of Fact ............................................................................................................................ 14 

a. Impact on the Town .......................................................................................................... 15 

i. Ability to provide public wastewater service .................................................................... 15 

ii. Impact of the Developer’s Concessions to the Town ....................................................... 17 

b. Impact on Citizens of the Town and County .................................................................... 18 

c. Impact on the County ........................................................................................................ 19 

Analysis and Recommendations ................................................................................................... 20 

a. Orderly Growth and Continued Viability of the Town and County ................................. 20 

b. Promoting Strong and Viable Unity of Local Government .............................................. 21 

c. Ramifications for Citizens of the Town ............................................................................ 21 

Conclusion .................................................................................................................................... 22 

Appendicies................................................................................................................................... 23 

 

  

DRAFT



3 

 

Executive Summary 

On May 17, 2024, the Town of Warrenton and Fauquier County jointly submitted a notice 

of a proposed Voluntary Settlement Agreement to the Commission on Local Government to 

review. The Proposed Agreement was negotiated under § 15.2-3400 of the Code of Virginia, 

which allows localities to settle interlocal issues through negotiated agreements. However, before 

the localities may enact any negotiated agreement, the Commission must review the agreement 

and issue an advisory report on whether the agreement is in the best interest of the 

Commonwealth. When issuing its advisory report, the Commission is directed to hold hearings, 

make investigations, analyze local needs, and then submit its findings of fact and 

recommendations as to whether the voluntary settlement agreement is in the best interest of the 

Commonwealth to the affected local governments. The local governments may then adopt any 

recommendations before the agreement is sent to a special court for ultimate disposition.    

The Proposed Agreement provides for the Town of Warrenton to annex 241 acres of land 

that currently lie in the County and limits the development of that land to the zoning conditions 

that were proffered by the developer and accepted by the County in November of 2023. The 

VSA further stipulates that the developer and owner will pay for certain improvements to roads 

and wastewater systems in the Town in exchange for a higher-density development once the 

property is annexed into the Town, among other provisions. The Commission finds that the 

agreement is in the best interest of the Commonwealth and recommends its adoption because it 

promotes the orderly growth and continued viability of the Town and County by providing for 

the productive use of land, increased tax enterprise fund revenues, and funding for improvements 

to key services that otherwise would have to be provided by the localities and paid for by the 

citizens of the Town. The Commission therefore recommends the Proposed Agreement be 

adopted in its current form without any changes. 

What follows is the Commission’s advisory report on the Proposed Agreement. First, this 

report overviews the proceedings before the Commission that led to this report. Second, it 

explains the characteristics of the Parties, highlighting those that are most relevant to the 

Commission’s review. Third, it discusses the relevant standard of review and applies that 

DRAFT



4 

 

standard to the Proposed Agreement through findings of fact and recommendations. Finally, the 

report concludes that the Proposed Agreement is in the best interest of the Commonwealth.  

  

DRAFT



5 

 

Proceedings of the Commission 

On May 17, 2024, the Town of Warrenton (“the Town”), Fauquier County (“the 

County”), Van Metre Communities LLC (“Van Metre”), Alwington Farm, LLC (“Alwington”), 

and Alwington Farm Developers, L.L.C. (collectively, the "Parties") jointly submitted a notice of 

their intention to enter into a Voluntary Settlement Agreement (“The Notice”).1 The Notice 

stated the Parties’ intention to allow the Town to annex approximately 241 acres of land 

currently in the County (the “Annexation Area”) that is owned by Alwington and other entities.2 

The portions of the land owned by Alwington (the “Alwington property”) would be annexed 

under a development plan that contains conditions that were proffered to the County by Van 

Metre and would require public utilities to be provided by the Town. To accomplish the 

annexation, the Parties drafted a voluntary settlement agreement (“the Proposed Agreement” or 

“the VSA”) that would ensure that the Alwington property would be developed in a manner that 

is acceptable to both the Town and the County, among other provisions.3 

The Proposed Agreement was developed by the Town and County jointly in the months 

leading up to its submission to the Commission. On April 12, 2024, the County authorized its 

staff to take the necessary steps, in coordination with the Town, to submit a voluntary settlement 

agreement to the Commission,4 and on May 14, 2024, the Town gave its staff similar 

authorization.5 The Notice contained the VSA, dated March 14, 2024, rezoning documents 

applicable to the Alwington property, supporting narratives, and additional evidence. On July 22, 

2024, the Parties submitted an updated Proposed Agreement containing non-substantive 

typographical and formatting changes.6 Consistent with the Commission’s regulations, the 

 
1 Van Metre Communities, LLC, NOTICE OF VOLUNTARY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN AND 

AMONG THE TOWN OF WARRENTON, VIRGINIA, THE COUNTY OF FAUQUIER, VIRGINIA AND 

ALWINGTON FARM, LLC, ALWINGTON FARM DEVELOPERS, LLC, AND VAN METRE COMMUNITIES, 

LLC, May 17, 2024, as amended on July 22, 2024 (on file with the Commission) [hereinafter the VSA Notice]. 
2 The following entities own additional property within the Annexation Area: HD Development of Maryland, Inc. 

(.73 acres); Padmaja and Srinivas Dasari (1.16 acres); VABFT, LLC (4.3 acres); the School Board of Fauquier 

County (.81 acres); and the Fauquier County Board of Supervisors (County Right-of-Way along Alwington 

Boulevard). There has not been any registered opposition to annexation from these property owners. 
3 The VSA Notice, p. 3. 
4 Id, p. 98. 
5 Id, p. 97. 
6 Id, p. 121. 

DRAFT



6 

 

Notice was also sent to the political subdivisions that are contiguous to the Town and County or 

with which they share functions, revenue, or tax sources. 

The Commission held a hearing to review the VSA on September 16, 2024, with oral 

presentations from the Parties at the Warrenton Town Hall.7 The Commission also held a public 

hearing, advertised in accordance with § 15.2-2907(B) of the Code of Virginia, in the evening on 

September 16, 2024, also at the Warrenton Town Hall, for the purpose of receiving public 

comment on the Proposed Agreement.8 The public hearing was attended by approximately 30 

people and produced testimony from 5 individuals along with written comments from citizens 

who could not attend. To permit receipt of additional public comment, the Commission agreed to 

keep its record open for written testimony through 5:00 pm on September 30, 2024. The After 

the hearing, the Commission received additional written testimony and evidence from Town and 

County elected officials, citizens, and the parties. The Commission also requested further 

information from the Parties on September 23 and October 7. All additional written testimony, 

evidence, and responses to Commission questions are included as Appendix A. 

The Commission is obligated to render a report with its findings of fact and 

recommendations within six months of receiving notice of a voluntary settlement agreement.9 

However, the Commission may extend that deadline either by 60 days on its own motion or to a 

date agreed upon by the Parties.10 This report was adopted at a regular meeting of the 

Commission on November 1, 2024, and sent to the Parties for their consideration and approval 

by their respective governing bodies.11 Following this Commission report, the Proposed 

Agreement (either in original or modified form) shall not become binding on the Town or 

County until it has been adopted by ordinance by both local governments after a public hearing 

and subsequently affirmed by a special court.12 

 
7 Minutes of Oral Presentations, COMM. ON LOCAL GOV’T, September 16, 2024. 
8 Minutes of Public Hearing, COMM. ON LOCAL GOV’T, September 16, 2024. 
9 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-3400 (2024); 15.2-2907(A) (2024). 
10 Id. 
11 Minutes of the November 1, 2024 Regular Meeting, COMM. ON LOCAL GOV’T, November 1, 2024. 
12 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-3400 (2024). 

DRAFT



7 

 

Overview of the Proposed Agreement 

On November 9, 2023, before the Parties had contemplated entering into the Proposed 

Agreement, the County approved a rezoning of the Alwington property with multiple 

development alternatives.13 One of the alternative that permits a higher-density housing 

development and multiple commercial parcels was approved contingent on the property being 

annexed into the Town and having access to public water and wastewater utilities.14 The Town 

and the County subsequently agreed that this rezoning, along with the proffered conditions of 

development, should control the development of the land regardless of whether it was subject to 

the Town or County’s jurisdiction.15 On December 12, 2023, the Town adopted a resolution 

supporting a potential citizen-initiated annexation petition on the conditions that the Alwington 

property would be developed in accordance with the County’s rezoning, that the Taylor Run 

Pump Station would be relocated, redesigned and reconstructed at Alwington and Van Metre’s 

expense, and that Alwington Boulevard would be improved to the Town’s satisfaction, also at 

Alwington and Van Metre’s expense.16 The terms of this resolution formed the basis for the 

Proposed Agreement submitted to the Commission.17 

 The Proposed Agreement combines the development proffers in the County’s rezoning 

and the Town’s additional commitments from Alwington and Van Metre. The main provisions of 

the Proposed Agreement are 1) that the Town will annex approximately 241 acres of land 

currently in the County into the Town, 2) that the Town will administer development of the 

Annexation Area in a manner that is consistent with and in substantial conformance with the 

County’s November 9, 2023 rezoning of the Alwington property, 3) that the Town will connect 

properties within the Annexation Area to the Town wastewater and water systems upon written 

request by the owner, and 4) that Alwington and Van Metre are jointly responsible for designing 

and constructing improvements to Alwington Boulevard and a Relocated Taylor Run Pump 

 
13 The VSA Notice, p. 7. 
14 Id, p. 3. 
15 Id. 
16 Id, p. 125-26. 
17 The inclusion of the additional commitments by the private parties that were not proffered to the County is why 

there are non-local governments who are parties to the Proposed Agreement. 

DRAFT



8 

 

Station according to the Town’s designs with final approval by the Town. Additional provisions 

ensure that properties that lie between the Alwington property and the current Town boundary 

are included in the Annexation Area to avoid islands of County jurisdiction within the Town. 

 

Characteristics of the Town and County 

The Town of Warrenton and Fauquier County are located in the north-central portion of 

Virginia. Situated between both rural counties, such as Rappahannock and Culpeper, and the 

more urbanized counties of Northern Virginia such as Prince William, the County is mostly rural 

with some ex-urban development from Washington, D.C. Fauquier County was created out of 

Prince William County in 1759 and named for Francis Fauquier, who was the Lieutenant 

Governor of Virginia at the time. Warrenton began as a trading settlement at the intersection of 

two important trade routes. The Fauquier County Courthouse was built there in the 1790s, and it 

was incorporated as a town in 1810.  

Warrenton is currently the County seat of Fauquier and is one of the more densely 

populated areas in the County. While the County has grown more steadily, Warrenton’s 

population has grown by 66% since the 2000 census from 6,670 to a 2022 estimate of 10,111. 

However, that growth has not been consistent, and has stalled in the past decade; the Town's 

population in 1990 was 4,830, in 2000 it was 6,670, in 2010 it was 9,611, and in 2023 it was 

estimated at 10,197.18 This means that between 1990 and 2000, roughly 1,600 people moved to 

the Town, between 2000 and 2010, almost 3,000 people did, but in the thirteen years between 

2010 and 2023 only 586 people have moved to the Town.19  

  

 
18 United States Census Bureau; 2022 American Community Survey 5-year estimate; See The VSA Notice, p. 38. 
19 The VSA Notice, p. 38. 

DRAFT



9 

 

Table 1: Selected Demographic and Economic Characteristics of the Localities (2022) 

Population Characteristics   Virginia   Town of Warrenton Fauquier County 

Total Population   8,715,698   10,111   75,165  

Percent of Population aged 45 

to 54 years 
12.2% 14.2% 12.5% 

Total Size (Square miles) 39,482.11 4.34 651 

Median Household Income  $87,249   $83,737 $110,358 

Educational Attainment 

(Bachelor’s Degree or 

Greater)  

41.0%   43.6% 41.1% 

Percent Minority*  41.9%  29.5% 32.2% 

Population per Square Mile  218.6 2329.7 115.5 

Source: 2022 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimate   

*Includes all individuals who identified as Black or African American, American Indian, Asian, 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Two or More Races, or Hispanic or Latino.  

DRAFT



10 

 

The Town and County are in the northernmost portion of Growth and Opportunity 

Virginia Region #9, characterized by a large presence of healthcare, education, and hospitality 

services industries (though the region has made efforts to increase activity in key trade sector 

industries). While educational attainment in the Town and County is similar to that of the 

Commonwealth as a whole, the standard of living in the County as a whole is slightly higher, 

likely due to its proximity to Washington, D.C. Unlike Virginia as a whole, where population is 

roughly evenly distributed and no 10 year demographic makes up greater than 14% of the 

population, the Town and County’s age distribution is not even.20 Those aged 45-54 are the 

largest age demographic in the Town at 1,435 people, or 14.2% of the population, whereas the 

County’s largest age demographic is 35 to 44 years of age at 11,299 people, or 15% of the 

population.21  

 Because it is mostly rural, the County has designated eight service districts for public 

utilities provided by the Fauquier County Water and Sanitation Authority. These districts are 

areas where the County currently provides or plans to provide public water, wastewater, or both 

that will accommodate high-density residential and commercial uses. One of these service 

districts surrounds the Town of Warrenton and encompasses the Annexation Area, as will be 

discussed below. The Town provides its own public water and wastewater services. While the 

Town has considered expansion of its boundaries several times in recent years, it has not taken 

formal action to seek any additional land until this Proposed Agreement.22 The last previous 

annexation was in 1998.23 

 

Characteristics of the Annexation Area: Alwington Property 

The vast majority of the Annexation Area, and the main subject of the Proposed 

Agreement, is the northernmost 234 acre portion of an approximately 431 acre parcel owned by 

Alwington adjacent to the Town’s current southern boundary. The 234 acre portion that would 

 
20 2023 American Community Survey, 1-year estimate. 
21 2022 American Community Survey, 5-year estimate. 
22 The VSA Notice, p. 9. 
23 Id. 

DRAFT



11 

 

be annexed is south of Alwington Boulevard and lies along James Madison Highway, which is 

the southern entrance to the Town. The VSA would allow for the 234 acres of the parent parcel 

to come into the Town along with the land that lies between it and the current Town boundary, 

while the remaining 197 acres would not be brought into the Town and would remain part of 

Fauquier County and subject to its zoning authority.24 The boundary between the 234 acre 

portion and the remaining 197 acres is the boundary of the County’s Warrenton Service 

District.25 

 The entire parcel is currently undeveloped and zoned for agricultural use.26 However, 

there have been several proposals for development of the property, and this particular 

development plan was originally proposed in 2015, albeit in a different form than the Proposed 

Agreement.27 The Proposed Agreement builds off of the 2015 rezoning and incorporates 

proffered development plans from Alwington and Van Metre. The rezoning allows for three 

different development scenarios: a base zoning of 217 market-rate residential lots with public 

water and privately-owned sewer system and no commercial developments; Alternative A, with 

195 market-rate lots, 16 additional units reserved for affordable housing, a commercial 

development consisting of an 8,000 square foot eating establishment and a 15 room inn, and an 

additional 25 acre commercial lot, referred to as “Land Bay W”; and Alternative B, which 

increases the number of market-rate lots to 254, but is otherwise the same as Alternative A.28 By 

including the parcel in the Town boundaries, the development will have access to the Town’s 

wastewater system, which will allow it to accommodate additional residential units and a 25 acre 

land bay for additional commercial development.29 Therefore, alternatives A and B are 

 
24 Id, p. 13; in 2015, the Fauquier County Board of Supervisors approved a subdivision plat for the entire parcel that 

authorized 10 residential lots on the remaining 224.53 acres. Van Metre plans to develop nine cluster lots on 29.62 

acres near the new Town boundary, with the remaining 194.91 acres remaining open. See The VSA Notice, p. 12. 
25 Fauquier County GIS Dept, FAUQUIER COUNTY, VA Service District Land Use Plans (2021); 

https://www.fauquiercounty.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/32304/637526229511400000 
26 The VSA Notice, p. 40-41.  
27 Id, p. 12. 
28 Id, p. 12-13. 
29Id, p. 13; there are no plans for the development of Commercial Land Bay W, as the town wishes to have input on 

what is developed. The VSA Notice, FN25.  

DRAFT



12 

 

contingent upon the inclusion of the property within the Town’s boundaries, and alternative B is 

further contingent upon the Town providing additional water service connections to the property.  

The Proposed Agreement assumes that the development will proceed under alternative B, 

as the Town has agreed to annex the property and add additional connections if Alwington and 

Van Metre agree to the additional requirements of expanding Alwington Boulevard and 

reconstructing the Taylor Run Pump Station.30 Van Metre has designed a full residential 

community with a detailed code of development that was proffered to the County and included in 

the Proposed Agreement. Under this most intense development scenario, the development of the 

Alwington property will require approximately 124,000 gallons per day of wastewater 

treatment.31 The Town’s current wastewater treatment capacity is 2.5 million gallons per day, 

and the actual average daily flow to the Town’s wastewater treatment plant in 2021 was 1.72 

million gallons.32 Therefore, if this development is completed, the average daily flow will 

increase to approximately 1.84 million gallons per day. 

The Annexation Area has already been included in the Joint Planning and Water Service 

Agreement, which means that the Town will provide water to the Annexation Area as it is 

developed, even if it stays in the County.33 Therefore, the Town perceives that the area is 

appropriate for that public utility. In recent years the Town has also approved significant 

development along Alwington Boulevard, resulting in the construction of both a Home Depot 

and a Walmart along the Town’s boundary and near the Annexation Area. The children who live 

in the already existing residential neighborhoods to the west and north of the Annexation Area 

attend Brumfield Elementary School, Taylor/Warrenton Middle School, and Fauquier High 

School, as will any students who might live in the residential units to be developed on the 

Alwington property.   

 
30 See The VSA Notice, p. 133. 
31 Id, p. 27. 
32 Id, p. 27-28. 
33 Id, p. 102. 

DRAFT



13 

 

Scope and Standard of Review 

The Proposed Agreement was negotiated under § 15.2-3400 of the Code of Virginia, 

which allows localities to settle interlocal issues through negotiated agreements. However, 

before localities enact any negotiated agreement, the Commission must review the negotiated 

agreement and issue an advisory report on “whether the proposed settlement is in the best 

interest of the Commonwealth.”34 When issuing its advisory report, the Commission is directed 

“to hold hearings, make investigations, analyze local needs,” and then submit its findings of fact 

and recommendations to the affected local governments.35 The local governments may then 

adopt any recommendations before the Proposed Agreement is sent to a special court for ultimate 

disposition.36 The Commission’s report shall be admissible as evidence in any court proceedings 

on the VSA, but it shall not be binding upon any court and shall be advisory in nature only.37 

The General Assembly encourages local governments to attempt to negotiate settlement 

of their interlocal concerns.38 One of the statutory responsibilities of the Commission is to assist 

local governments in such efforts.39 In view of this legislative intent, the Commission believes 

that proposed interlocal agreements, such as the Proposed Agreement being considered, should 

be approached with respect and presumption of their compatibility with applicable statutory 

standards. The Commission notes, however, that the General Assembly requires interlocal 

agreements to be reviewed by this body prior to their final adoption by the local governing 

bodies and review by a court.40 The Commission is obliged to conclude, therefore, that while 

interlocal agreements are due respect and should be approached with a presumption of their 

consistency with statutory standards, such respect and presumption cannot be permitted to render 

the Commission’s review a pro forma endorsement of any proposed settlement. The 

Commission’s responsibility to the Commonwealth and to the affected localities requires more. 

 
34 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-3400(3) (2024). 
35 Va. Code Ann. § 15,2-3400(3) (2024); 15.2-2907(A) (2024). 
36 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-3400(3) (2024). 
37 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-2904(B) (2024); 15.2-3400 (2024). 
38 See Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-3400 (2024). 
39 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-2903(3) (2024). 
40 Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-3400(3) (2024). 

DRAFT



14 

 

This Proposed Agreement, as noted previously, is the product of negotiations by the 

Parties and incorporates a rezoning and proffered development conditions that have already 

received multiple rounds of public feedback and approvals by the County. Its main provision is 

an annexation that brings property into the Town in exchange for a commitment to rebuild a 

sewage pump station and access to public utilities that allow for higher-density development and 

multiple commercial parcels. When applying the "best interest of the Commonwealth” standard 

of review to voluntary settlement agreements like the Proposed Agreement that contain a mixture 

of annexation and other provisions, the Commission considers “whether the agreement will be 

beneficial to the orderly growth and continued viability of the localities, whether it would 

promote strong and viable units of government, and whether there are ramifications of the 

proposed annexation for other parties and the Commonwealth.”41 This standard is derived from 

the stated purpose of voluntary settlement agreements in § 15.2-3400 of the Code of Virginia, the 

court’s standards of review, and Commission precedents.42 Applying this standard to this 

Proposed Agreement, the Commission therefore finds it necessary to consider whether the VSA 

is in the best interest of the localities and their citizens.43 

 

Findings of Fact 

This Proposed Agreement is an agreement between the Town, County, owner, and 

potential developer to permit and build a high-density, planned residential and commercial 

development in the small-but-growing Town of Warrenton. The terms of the development were 

proffered to the County by the developer, but the most intense development scenario requires the 

 
41 Comm. on Local Gov’t, Report on the Town of New Market - Shenandoah County Voluntary Settlement 

Agreement, May 2023, at 8-9; https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-

agreement/final-report-new-market-%26-shenandoah-wtih-appendix.pdf 
42 See, e.g., Id; Comm. on Local Gov’t, Report on the City of Emporia - County of Greensville Annexation 

Agreement, May 1983, at 15-16, https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-

agreement/city-of-emporia-county-of-greensville-annexation-agreement-may-1983.pdf; Comm. on Local Gov’t, 

Report on the Town of Grottoes – Augusta County Voluntary Settlement Agreement, January 2010, at 6, 

https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-agreement/town-of-grottoes-county-

of-augusta-voluntary-settlement-agreement-january-2010.pdf 
43 Comm. on Local Gov’t, Report on the Town of Leesburg- Loudoun County Voluntary Settlement Agreement, 

April 2024, at 14; https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/DocX/clg/town-of-leesburg/final-clg-leesburg-

loudoun-vsa-report-withappendix-4.30.24.pdf 

DRAFT

https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-agreement/city-of-emporia-county-of-greensville-annexation-agreement-may-1983.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-agreement/city-of-emporia-county-of-greensville-annexation-agreement-may-1983.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-agreement/town-of-grottoes-county-of-augusta-voluntary-settlement-agreement-january-2010.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/voluntary-settlement-agreement/town-of-grottoes-county-of-augusta-voluntary-settlement-agreement-january-2010.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/DocX/clg/town-of-leesburg/final-clg-leesburg-loudoun-vsa-report-withappendix-4.30.24.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/DocX/clg/town-of-leesburg/final-clg-leesburg-loudoun-vsa-report-withappendix-4.30.24.pdf


15 

 

property to be annexed into the Town. The Proposed Agreement reflects the most intense 

development scenario requiring access to public water and wastewater systems. Such access will 

necessitate upgrades to the Town’s wastewater system. The density of the residential and 

commercial development will add additional burdens on the schools, roads, and other public 

services. Therefore, the Commission believes it is most important to consider the impact of the 

VSA on the Town and its citizens, and less important to focus on the County, owner, and 

developer, who have already agreed to the proffered development conditions and believe those 

limitations are in their best interests. With this emphasis in mind, the Commission must review 

the impacts of the Proposed Agreement under the “best interest of the Commonwealth” standard 

by providing findings of fact and recommendations. The findings of fact are provided in this 

section, and the analysis of whether the Proposed Agreement is in the best interest of the 

Commonwealth is provided in the next section. 

a. Impact on the Town 

i. Ability to provide public wastewater service 

As noted above, the Proposed Agreement is projected to add approximately 124,000 

gallons per day of sewage treatment to the Town’s wastewater system when fully developed. 

This will increase the current average daily flow to 1.84 MGD, which is still within the capacity 

of the Town’s current sewage treatment plant of 2.5 MGD. However, at the Commission’s public 

hearing, several residents noted that while this development on its own can be accommodated, 

the cumulative impact of all approved projects in the Town will result in more sewage flow than 

the current wastewater treatment plan can process.44  

This assertion is confirmed by the Town’s own Water and Sewer System Capacity 

Evaluation, (“WRA Report”) which it commissioned from Whitman, Requardt and Associates 

(WRA) in 2022 and included as Appendix B. The WRA Report calculated “cumulative 

wastewater loading by addition of the demand created by… named developments,” both 

commercial and residential, that were identified as in progress or approved by the Town’s 

 
44 Minutes of Public Hearing, COMM. ON LOCAL GOV’T, September 16, 2024 (specifically remarks from Cindy 

Burbank and David Horden). 

DRAFT



16 

 

Community Development Department.45 The WRA Report concluded that, if the plant is not 

improved or expanded, the projection is that sewage will exceed capacity in 2034.46 However, 

the WRA report also concluded that “the Town of Warrenton has adequate water supply capacity 

and wastewater treatment capacity to accommodate the new housing and commercial 

developments identified by the Community Development Department” up until 2039 as long as 

the treatment plant’s capacity is expanded to 3.0 MGD.47 This projection assumes that all 

planned development is built by 2040, which is the expiration date of the current comprehensive 

plan.48  

The WRA Report also notes that water entering the sewage system through infiltration 

and inflow (I & I) is high in Warrenton at .92 MGD, or 49% of total flows treated at the plant.49 I 

& I accounts for water in the sewage system that is not provided to residents and businesses 

through the water system.50 It is caused by “water discharged directly into the wastewater system 

through basement and foundation drains, roof downspouts, manhole covers, cross connections 

with stormwater systems and other direct connections.”51 I & I is highest in localities with aging 

wastewater collection infrastructure, which includes Warrenton.52 Therefore, any improvements 

to the Town’s infrastructure will reduce the amount of I & I, and subsequently, the amount of 

sewage that needs to be treated. 

The Commission has no reason to doubt the findings of the WRA Report. The findings of 

the report were further validated by additional evidence provided by the Town. In emails to the 

Commission with additional evidence and answers to follow-up question after the presentations 

and hearings, the Town provided the following information: 53 

 
45 Whitman, Requardt & Associates, TOWN OF WARRENTON – WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM CAPACITY 

EVALUATION UPDATE [hereinafter WRA Report] 13 (2022). The report is included as appendix B.  
46 Id at 13. 
47 Id at 1, 13. 
48 Id at 13. 
49 Id at 6. 
50 Id at 5. 
51 Id. 
52 Id at 6. 
53 The Town’s full responses to the Commission’s requests for additional information are included as Appendix A. 

All additional documents provided by the Town to support its answers are on file with the Commission.  

DRAFT



17 

 

• The Town has already begun the process of repairing, replacing, and modernizing 

the Wastewater Treatment Plant.  It is currently in the third year of a six-year 

capital improvement plan that will bring the plant to current standards and 

increase its capacity to 3.0 MGD. 

• The only obstacles to increasing the capacity of the existing plant to 3.0 MGD are 

(1) a modification to the Town’s next discharge permit (regulated by the VA 

Department of Environmental Quality) to 3.0 MGD and (2) completion of the 

planned capital improvements. 54 

• The Town does not anticipate any objection from regulators to modifying its 

discharge permit. The Town has determined that the capacity of the receiving 

stream, an unnamed tributary to Great Run in the Rappahannock watershed with a 

1.9 square mile drainage area, can handle the increase in the wastewater 

discharge.  

• There is a projected increase in user rates over a five-year period to address the 

cost of remediating the Town’s aging treatment plant, increase the capacity, and 

address deferred maintenance.  

Based on the WRA Report and the Town’s ongoing plan to improve its wastewater system, the 

Commission is reasonably confident that the Town can absorb the impact of this Proposed 

Agreement and the other planned developments in the Town.  

ii. Impact of the Developer’s Concessions to the Town 

The County’s November 2023 rezoning of the Alwington property, in conjunction with 

the existing Joint Planning and Water Service Agreement between the Town, County, and 

Alwington Farm Developers, LLC, allows Van Metre to develop 217 market rate lots with public 

water, private wastewater, and no commercial development.55 This can be done by-right in the 

County without the adoption of the Proposed Agreement. In order to increase the density of the 

residential development and add commercial uses, Van Metre proposed that the property 

 
54 A citizen of the Town suggested that there was an existing covenant on the land that limits the capacity of the 

existing plant to 2.5 MGD (email from David Norden, Appendix A). The Town provided the Commission a Deed of 

Release of the restrictive covenant which is on file with the Commission. 
55 The VSA Notice, p. 102. 

DRAFT



18 

 

beannexed into the Town, and the Town agreed on the condition that Van Metre, at its own 

expense, expand Alwington Boulevard and rebuild the aging Taylor Run Pump Station, which is 

approaching the end of its useful life.  

These benefits have significant value to the Town. While Alwington Boulevard would 

need to be expanded under the County’s rezoning, that rezoning did not call for the road to be 

expanded,56 and the Town will soon have to replace the Taylor Pump Station at its own 

expense.57 The Town has budgeted $5.35 million in its capital improvement plan to replace the 

pump station by July of 2028, which means that Van Metre is providing a minimum of $5.35 

million in improvements for which the Town would otherwise eventually have to pay for in 

addition to the cost of expanding Alwington Boulevard. 

b. Impact on Citizens of the Town and County 

The main impact of this development on the citizens of the Town and County is the 

provision of more housing. In presentations to the Commission, Van Metre noted that, in 2011, 

the largest age demographic in the County was 45-54 years of age at 18.2%, and by 2022, that 

number had dropped closer to the statewide average of 12.5 percent, with age 35-44 becoming 

the largest, as noted in Table 1.58 The stated goal of this development is therefore to provide 

housing for those aged 35-44 in the County in the hopes of reversing those observed 

demographic trends. While it is beyond the scope of this report to validate Van Metre’s 

hypothesis that a specific age demographic will find this housing attractive, the Town has 

previously grown rapidly, and that pace of growth has slowed in the past decade. Therefore, 

housing construction likely will be a boon to citizens of the Town and County who are seeking to 

remain in the localities as each jurisdiction, in its own way, seeks to accommodate and manage 

its population growth through the approval of development projects such as this one.   

Financial impacts of the Proposed Agreement on the citizens of the Town due to 

increased water and sewer usage rates to cover the costs of improving and expanding the Town’s 

 
56 See Gorov Slade, TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY ARRINGTON DEVELOPMENT (REZN-22-01798) 7 (2023) (on 

file with the Commission).  
57 See the VSA Notice, p. 14. 
58 Minutes of the July 23, 2024 Regular Meeting, COMM. ON LOCAL GOV’T, July 23, 2024 (presentation from 

Roy Barnett is on file with the Commission). 

DRAFT



19 

 

wastewater system are uncertain. As noted above, the Town has been improving and expanding 

its wastewater treatment plant since before this Proposed Agreement was approved by the 

Parties. Furthermore, as the WRA Report makes clear, the Town will need to complete these 

improvements by 2034 regardless of whether this Proposed Agreement is adopted because of 

other planned development in the Town. Since the costs of improvement are necessary, already 

included in a capital improvement plan, and will need to be accomplished regardless of this 

Proposed Agreement, any increases in rates for sewer improvements cannot be directly attributed 

to this particular development.  

While speculative, the Parties suggested in the notice that the Town would use the 

increases in tax revenues to offset the costs of some of these improvements: 

There is not a municipality in Virginia the size of Warrenton that could not benefit from 

an increase in tax revenue. [The Town] will need to expand its wastewater treatment 

plant within the next decade, and will very likely require additional monies to cover bond 

payments, and the additional revenue from growth will be valuable for that purpose.59 

While the political question of what the Town will do with additional revenues from new water 

and sewer customers is beyond the scope of this report, the Commission believes it is reasonable 

to expect that the Town will use the increased enterprise fund revenue from the development to 

offset increased operating expenditures as well as the costs of future capital improvements, 

which may result in lower rate increases for the Town’s citizens than if the Proposed Agreement 

were not accepted. 

c. Impact on the County 

The impacts on the County of the Proposed Agreement include increased tax revenue and 

less environmental harm when compared to the base development that is currently allowed in the 

County under the November 2023 rezoning. The County’s sales and real estate tax revenue, 

which it shares with the Town, will increase due to both the development of more residential 

units and the Commercial lots. The environmental impact on the County will be greatly reduced 

if the development is included in the Town’s wastewater system because the by-right 

 
59 The VSA Notice, p. 37. 

DRAFT



20 

 

development would be on a privately-owned septic system with primary and reserve drainage 

fields that would discharge untreated water directly into the watershed. By adding the 

development to the Town’s wastewater system, the streams are better protected, and larger 

environmental issues will be avoided. Ultimately, by including the proffers to the County in the 

Proposed Agreement, the County is getting a high-quality, well-planned development that is 

consistent with its comprehensive plan and located within one of its designated service districts. 

 

Analysis and Recommendations 

When considering proposed agreements that contain annexation provisions, the 

Commission considers whether the proposed agreement is beneficial to the orderly growth and 

continued viability of the localities, whether it would promote strong and viable units of 

government, and whether there are ramifications of the proposed annexation for other parties and 

the Commonwealth.60 Even with the important concerns raised by citizens noted above, the 

Parties have presented an agreement that meets all three components of this test. 

a. Orderly Growth and Continued Viability of the Town and County 

This VSA promotes the orderly growth of the Town and County by providing for the 

productive use of land, increased tax revenue, and funding for improvements to key services that 

otherwise would have to be provided by the localities. The Proposed Agreement envisions a 

well-planned commercial and residential community on land that has been identified by the 

Town for potential incorporation and by the County for development through inclusion in the 

Warrenton Service District. This productive use is essential to the ordered growth in and around 

the Town that the localities desire. The Proposed Agreement will also contribute to continued 

viability through increased tax revenue and needed improvements to public infrastructure 

through proffers and concessions. Through the provisions of the proffers to the County and its 

contributions in the Proposed Agreement, Van Metre is contributing to the continued viability of 

both localities by making upgrades to key services such as water, wastewater, and schools in the 

 
60 Comm. on Local Gov’t, Report on the Town of Leesburg- Loudoun County Voluntary Settlement Agreement, 

April 2024, at 13-14; https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/DocX/clg/town-of-leesburg/final-clg-

leesburg-loudoun-vsa-report-withappendix-4.30.24.pdf 

DRAFT



21 

 

Town and County, which makes the provision of these services more affordable for the citizens 

in the long-run. 

b. Promoting Strong and Viable Unity of Local Government 

For similar reasons, the Proposed Agreement will also help the localities remain strong 

and viable units of local government. While plans for growth of the Town are a political question 

that is beyond the scope of this report, many rural regions of the Commonwealth are affected by 

changing demographics and an aging population. As these demographics shift, both localities 

have identified a need to provide housing and other services for younger age demographics to 

discourage them from moving away from the area. Therefore, productive use of land for housing 

is needed to meet the needs of these shifting demographics. The Town must continue to provide 

water and wastewater service to remain viable, and increased revenue for its utilities may be used 

to fund further capital improvements to the Town’s aging wastewater system. Capital 

Improvements funded in the Town’s 6-year plan will reduce infiltration into the aging system, 

further extend its life, and lower the potential rate impact to citizens of future improvements.  

c. Ramifications for Citizens of the Town 

As to the effect of the Proposed Agreement on the citizens of the Town, the Commission 

notes the benefits, such as reduced environmental impact, affordable housing, pedestrian access, 

and others, that the higher-density development will provide directly and indirectly to the 

citizens. Ultimately, however, the Commission believes that the findings of the WRA Report are 

most compelling. The Town clearly has deferred maintenance that needs to be addressed in the 

system overall and planned maintenance on the Taylor Pump Station that will have to be paid for 

by citizens. Not only has the Town acknowledged this in its responses to the Commission and its 

Capital Improvement Plan, but the WRA Report also highlights the age of the system and the 

high amount of infiltration and inflow. If Van Metre is willing to pay for improvements to Town 

infrastructure that the citizens would eventually have to pay regardless of this VSA, then it will 

benefit the Town and its citizens because those costs will not end up falling back on the 

ratepayers and increasing water and wastewater rates to pay for deferred maintenance and 

upgrades in the future. 

 

DRAFT



22 

Conclusion 

Based on the findings of fact and analysis above, the Commission finds that the Proposed 

Agreement is in the best interest of the Commonwealth as written. However, this case presents 

unique circumstances for the Town’s citizens because the development was initially planned, 

reviewed, discussed, amended, and ultimately approved by the County without input from the 

Town. And yet it is dependent upon the Town’s agreement to the Annexation. Therefore, as this 

Proposed Agreement and the development moves forward, the Commission encourages the 

Town to continue its open dialogue with citizens so that they may better understand the County’s 

reasoning for initially approving the project and the Town’s reasoning for accepting it. 

Additionally, the Town should continue funding and implementing improvements to the 

wastewater system so that all future development within the Town can adequately be served.  

       Respectfully submitted,

        _____________________________

       Edwin Rosado, Chair

DRAFT



23 

 

Appendix A 

Additional evidence, testimony, and responses to questions received by 

the Commission after the public hearing 

  

DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



����������	
��
��������������������������������������������� !"#�$%���&'()'*+*,�-.*/�0%1 ����2����3�4�5�����678�79����5���������2������2������5�����5��!��  �������:3;�� �<�����5��:�������=����>��2����<���>�?��������3�����<��@�:���::��<���3����������������A��:��2�� �A���>��2����<���>�?����������;�<�:2��������� A����������>����:�BB�����>��2�:���������A�����C�������:�2�:�@���B���:�����5�A�<����������@��<�����2����<�����������A��D2�:�����C������ �����2�����A�2��5��:���@���>������2����CB�A��:��>�@��2��������:3��:B������A�5������2���5��� ����>�������  �������@�A��;>��2������C�����<�������>���3�����:� �����2���B��@�@����2����2�����>��B:�<�����CB��������<���������E++�����:�@A���52����D2�:<�����@�����������A���:�����:�6�>�<2��2���<����CB�A��:������2� :����:9��:�<�����:���<����CB�A��:�<2�<����:�@:���=���2��� B�����>��2�:�B���B2�����5��<�2�����2����<�F:���>��:�������������:������:�;���5��A������B���:���BB������2�:�GHI�����2��������:�:��>��2��>�:������:������A�������  ����A�:����5�2��>@��2��2����<���>�?��������������2�������A��>�J��K�����D2����A���>���A�������:�����������������������(/&�8�52�H�?��������3�GIH����>�� � A��02���

LMNOPNOQR�LLSOO�TU UVWX�Y�Z[\]̂_̀]]R�abc\Vde�fghigj�Y�k̀ ]X[[l

]̂]mnSNN[̀]X[[lo[ppW_bqrPo_[sNsVWXNWeNTTtlTuvlUwxPyzyMazTPUwT]ZgxPU{L̂UgyMaz|s}z~wyz_M}zUPycTtT�̀_�[{xs��|w��y|Q���Ox�qg LNL

DRAFT



���������	
����������������������������������� !"�#!$%&��� !'()%� �*+�,-.���/�%012312425627589/:� "�#�(+���;<$=#�%!>�?@�A&<$=#�%!*%�#�(+���'!(+!*� #= % �*=��-BCDEFEGHIEJKLMNDOPQIRRSTTSIOCETUVTWIXCDJJKCYCDESOZIO[CWJCR\CE]̂JKU\MJ_DTDTXCPJÌIaaI_MW_SJK_ESNCOLIRRCOJTGFbODRCSTBDcSPHIEPCODOPVTCEcCPIOJKCdDEECOJIOeI_OQIMOLSàEIR]ffgJIhi]jGe_CacCÌJKITCbCDETV_DTkSLClFDbIEDOP̀IEDaaTSmJCCObCDETV_DTJKCQKDSERDOÌJKCnoaSoCTQIRRSNCCGVXOI_D̀DSEDRIMOJD\IMJIME_DJCEDOP_DTJC_DJCEJECDJRCOJWaDOJTGFb\SZZCTJLIOLCEOD\IMJ\ESOZSOZJKSTaDEZCWDELCaSOJIJKCeI_OSTJKCD\SaSJbJIWEIcSPCSJ_SJKTC_CETCEcSLCDOP_KDJJKCMaoRDJCLITJJIJI_OJDmWDbCETRDb\CGpMELMEECOJWaDOJSTRDmCPIMJDJhGqRSaaSIOZDaaIOTWCEPDbGVJSTDaTIMOPCEDPCCPECTJESLoIOOIJJICmLCCPJKDJDRIMOJ\bJKC̀DRSab_KIPIODJCPJKCWEIWCEJbJIJKCJI_ÒIEJKCLIOTJEMLoIOÌJKCWaDOJPCLDPCTDZIGVJDaTIPSTLKDEZCTSOJIDJES\MJDEbJKDJST̀DEJIITRDaa\bLMEECOJTJDOPDEPTGdCDECLMEECOJabZEDOP̀DJKCECPU\MJDJ_KDJWISOJ_SaaJKDJOIaIOZCE\CZEDOJCPDOPJKCJI_ÒIELCPJI\MSaPDOIJKCEJECDJRCOJWaDOJPI_OTJECDRDOPWSWCIMECrMCOJJISJseKCLITJÌTIRCJKSOZaSXCJKSTLIMaPOCcCE\C\IEC\bLSotCOTÌdDEECOJIOUOIETKIMaPSJGV̀_CaScC_SJKSOIMERCDOTDOPPIOIJCmWDOPIME\IEPCETU_C_IOuJESTXJKSTLDJDTJEIWKSLWITTS\SaSJbGeKCLMEECOJeI_OQIMOLSaTCCRTKCaa\COJIORDXSOZJKSTKDWWCODOPST_IEXSOZJI\MbJKC̀DRSabIMJÌJKCSEPCCPECTJESLoIOTIJKCbLDOEDSTCJKCWaDOJIMJWMJJIvRSaaSIOZDaaIOTWCEPDbGVKDcCKCDEPJKCbDECWDbSOZw]RSaaSIOJIJKSTGeKCOJKCECSTJKCLITJÌCmWDOPSOZJKCWaDOJUDOCmWCOTCVLDOuJCcCOSRDZSOCU\MJLCEJDSOab̀DECmLCCPSOZJKCLITJ\COCxJJIJKCJDmWDbCET̀IEPISOZJKSTPCDaGyOMR\CEÌJKCQIMOLSaRCR\CETTMWWIEoOZJKST\IMOPDEbDPzMTJRCOJDECZISOZI{JKCQIMOLSaDOPTJDEoOZ|DOMDEb]Uhihq_C_SaaKDcCOC_RCR\CET_KIDECOIJTI}MSLXJIEMTKSOJIJKSTPCDaDOPSOLECDTCSOPCOTSJbDOPLIRRCELSDaPCcCaIWRCOJGeKSTPCcCaIWRCOJDTaDSPIMJ\bJKCLIMOJbSTDZIIPPCcCaIWRCOJDOPTKIMaPzMTJ\CaC~SOJKCLIMOJbJI\CCmCLMJCPGV_IMaPDTXJKDJbIMLIOTSPCEPCObSOZJKSTEC}MCTJIEDJaCDTJPCaDbSOZSJMOoaJKCOC_RCR\CETÌeI_OQIMOLSaLDO\CSOcIacCPGeKDOXbIM̀IEbIMEoRCUBDcSP�[�FEGHIEJKLMNU_IMaPbIMWaCDTCaCJRCXOI_JKDJbIMKDcCECLCScCPJKSTRCTTDZCDOP_SaaPCaScCESJJIDaaÌJKCQIRRSTTSIOCETIEaCJRCXOI_S̀VOCCPJIPIDObJKSOZCaTCGBDcSPyGHIEPCOUyVyFDODZSOZ�DEJOCEYSOLXaCbU[KCWKCEPUHIEPCOUyELKSJCLJT]fdSOLKCTJCE[JECCJdDEECOJIOUkSEZSOSDhi]ĝeCaqjilvj�ljhvh___GKTODSDGLIR

���������������� ������������������������� �¡�¢�����£

���¤¥���������£¦�§§����̈�¦��©�©���������ª£�«¬£�®�̄ °̄ ��°�������®��±����̄ ��°²©³°́ ̄°��³°��̄��ª� ��̄ �́�§®���µ¶°���·��̧¹�� ���

DRAFT



�������������	
���� ��������������������������� �!���"�����#

���$%	��������#&�''���
(�&��)�)��������*#�+,#�-.�/0/��0���-����.��1����/��02)304-/0��30��/��*� ��/4��'.���560���7��89
� ���

DRAFT



���������	
��
��������������������
������
� !�����"#$%%�����&$'��&()*��+��
,-./-0102
340,
5+6� 7�%��!���8
9��%$�:
;<=�<>
�9�?%$�:'7�%��!���":�!:'&@%�@�@$'��&(ABCDEFGH
IJBEKB
KBB
LMB
EFKNBDK
ODPQ
PRD
SLTJTLTBK
GTDBULPD
VBJPNW
XLBIMBF
YJPRCMH
YZY[PNF
YJBD\H
]̂ _̀
̂OOTUBD[PNF
PO
aEDDBFLPFH
b̀

cd
ZETF
XLDBBLaEDDBFLPFH
b̀
cedfgZhijjklmnloipqno

rstuvwxtyvz{vy|
tsyvrx}
y~��
����������
�������
��
��������
��
��
������
����
��
�~�
����������
��
������
��
�~��
��
������������
v�
���
�������
�����������
�~��
��
�����������
������������
���
������
����
����������
�����
����������
����
z����������������
������������
��
�������
��
�~��
�������������
��
��������
���~������
���~���
�~�
����������
��
�~�
�������

v�
�~�������
��
�~��
�������
��
���
�~�
��������
����������
��
��
���
~���
��������
�~��
�������������
��
������
������
������
�~�������
�����������
��
������
������
���
������
�~�
��������
�������
���
���
������
��
��
����
����
��������
������W
�����
�mkokl
�j�kl�
 ¡¢j�kl�£hijjklmnloipqno¤¥¦§̈�
©nl�iª«
�k¬mk®kj
̄°«
±²±³
́µ±̄
¶©·��
�mk¬̧kl
¹ºn»q̧
 ¡¼ºn»q̧£hijjklmnloipqno¤¥½¾¿¦À̈�
ÁÂµ
¹ÃÄ
Å»k¡Ænl¡
ÇJBEKB
XBB
QÈ
EFKNBDK
VBJPN
TF
VPJGW
[MEF\
ÈPRHXLBÉBF
�����
�mk¬̧kl
¹ºn»q̧
 ¡¼ºn»q̧£hijjklmnloipqno¤¥¦§̈�
©nl�iª«
�k¬mk®kj
̄°«
±²±³
̄µ̄Ê
¶©·��
�mkokl
�j�kl�
 ¡¢j�kl�£hijjklmnloipqno¤¥½¾¿¦À̈�
¹ÃÄ
Å»k¡Ænl¡
ZDW
]DTBFGH



deËcÌËcÍH
ddÎÏÌ
̀Z ZETJ
Ð
ÑPDLMURLLH
ABCDEFG
ÒÓÔYÓÕ
Ð
̂RLJPP\

MLLIKÎËËPRLJPP\WPOOTUBÏgÌWUPQËQETJËTGË̀ Ö̀\̀×Ø\ZÙSÌÚ[ÚeA[̀ÌZÙ̀LÑÓSÌZÈdMZÓÚeA[ÛQÜ[]ÙÚ[UeÜ[ZÌÚC̀ Ö̀ Ý×OAÞc]ßMÑSÇàL\×IÙáÛP̂ dÍÞÏÓ dËc

DRAFT



���������	
������������	�	��	����������������������
����������	����

����������������	������������	
��	��������������
�������
����������
�	��
�����������������
 ��!�������������	�������������	
�������������������
��"��������
�������������������� ��	����	������	�����#��
��	�������	����	����������������#	����$�������
�%�&'()*�+*�,-,,.�/0123'4'5�+*�,-,6�#�	����������������������������������������	���������	����7�������8�����������������
��
������������9:+*;�+<�0*�='><+4'.�)�?@A�1B34+23+'C�+<�)55'5�40�0B4D0EDF0=*�/B<401'C<@G442<HII===@=)CC'*40*J)@(0JI,AAIKBCC'*4DL)4'<��#�	��	����������	�����������	�����������	����������%�M�����
�	�����������  ����%�!�����	���	
 ���
 ������	����
����������	���	���N��
���%�FG'�>'<4�2C)/4+/'�<4)*5)C5�4+1'�EC)1'�E0C�)�C)4'�<4B5OB25)4'�+<�A�O')C<@�L'/'*43O.�0BC�E+*)*/+)3�)5J+<0C<�G)J'�C'/011'*5'5�4G)4�='�/0*<+5'C�)*04G'CB25)4'�+*�6�O')C<�5B'�40�4G'�<+P'�0E�0BC�KQR@�S'�=0C;�+*�/0*TB*/4+0*�=+4G�0BC�E+*)*/+)3�)5J+<0C<�40C'J+'=�)/4B)3�C'J'*B'�)*5�'U2'*<'�4C'*5<@�V*O�<+(*+E+/)*4�/G)*('�+*�4G0<'�4C'*5<�1)O�)3<0*'/'<<+4)4'�)�C)4'�<4B5O�B25)4'@�W+(*+E+/)*4�(C0=4G�=0B35�)3<0�4C+(('C�4G'�*''5�E0C�)*�'J)3B)4+0*0E�4G'�<O<4'1�)*5�4G'�C)4'<@���X�	
������������	�����	
�����������������$�����
���� ������X�
���������Y!Z�Y������X�
���#	���
�
��[Z��\]��	�
�$�����#	���
�
��[Z�\̂]_̀�abccdefgehbijgh��klmnopqmrostoru�mlrokqv�rwxy�z{z|}~��x|��zyy��z�xy�x�}z��z��}���z��xz�z����{�����}wz�x��x�x���{��~�z�}x}��}���w���x}�xy���~zyyz���o}�����|��}�x��x���~��}x���}w�}�xy��~x�x{z�z���|���x�z�}x�{�����z�z��}��~����xy|{�y�~z����z~����{x|��{z�{����s���xyyz�x��}x�����xy}~x��}x����~�|���x������}wxy�|�����x|�}x���xy�y}~x|}{���~�wx�x}z���x}w��}�}wz��z~�xyyx������}wz�yz��z~���o��}wz~z��z~����}wxy��zyy��z�xy���}�}wz�x�}z��z��~z|x�xz�}���~�x������w��z�~z|zx�z��}wxy�|�����x|�}x���x��z~~�~���{z�yz���}x���}wzyz��z~�x��z�x�}z{�����~z}�~��z���x{������z{z}z�}wz��~x�x��{��zyy��z���������|��xzy����x}��~������~�|����}z~�y�y}z���

]̂7\�7\���]]����Z� �	����������������� �	
��8�M��9���Y����

������77�����������̀����7�	��7��7ZZ��Z��������X�̂�XZ���Z�������]����̂�X���X���X�̂�X��� Z�Z�����\����� ¡�����¢�Y]���� \7\

DRAFT



���������	
�������
�
�������
������
���
�
�������
���
�� !
�"�#��"
$���
��#
��$�
%�&�%������'�(
)*+,-��
.+/*+,-��01*,2-�+-3�43�256���7-8
9:;<:=>=?
@A=B
CDE� F�+�G3���H
I-J+*,8
KLMNLO
.I-P+*,84F�+�G3���08G3841Q+JQ,Q*4J�15�% P*��-G+H
R+*3(
.�+*3(4J*��-G+0S*�T�Q-+3��,�(4J�15U
D*+�Q,
'4
N+Q2
K23+Q20V*,8V*,8-+V�,43�2O.23+Q20V*,8V*,8-+V�,43�25U
W���-H
X�G,
.YS���-0�G-�*,8�*Z(-+V43�25U
F(*,H
[�*++.V,(*,0�G-�*,8�*Z(-+V43�25U
R�2
D*+*/�-
.RD*+*/�-0\*,D-�+-I*,843�25=
*��*3G2-,�V
K;
D)OR�Z,
�S
7*++-,��,
]
7*�-+
*,8
[-Z-+
[(V�-2
N*̂*3Q�(
_1*��*�Q�,
̀ 8̂*�-
a
;=>b=>==4̂8SU
[�*SS
'-̂�+�
a
7*�-+
*,8
[-Z-+[(V�-2
N*̂*3Q�(
_1*��*�Q�,
̀ 8̂*�-
a
;=;==>==4̂8SUcdde
fghijddjk
lhcifje
m
nj
odppdq
rs
td
tuh
vwlc
xhhyjz
dj
{rh|ef}
xdij~jzk
n
uf�h
f�f�uhe
f�ds}
do
tuh
{dqj
do
�fiihjtdj
�
�fthi
fje
�hqhi
�}|thx
vfsf�~t}
��fprfydj
�sefth
�dxsphthe
~j�h�hx�hi
������
�phf|h
jdth
tuft
tuh
sidsd|fp
odi
eh�hpdsxhjt
do
�ii~jztdj
~j�prehe
���
ih|~ehjyfprj~t|
ft
tuh
yxh
do
tuh
|tre}�
�ri~jz
ih�~hq
do
tuh
�ii~jztdj
eh�hpdsxhjtk
tuh
ehj|~t}
do
�ii~jztdj
qf|iher�he
�}
���
td
f
xf�~xrx
do
���
ih|~ehjyfp
rj~t|�

{uh
�diih|sdje~jz
iher�ydj
~j
|hqhi
�dq
oidxtuh
iher�ydj
~j
tuh
jrx�hi
do
ih|~ehjyfp
rj~t|
qf|
d�|ht
�}
fee~jz
tuh
��
f�ih|
do
�dxxhi�~fp�

{uhjht
ih|rpt
qf|
f
|xfpp
~j�ihf|h
~j
tdtfp
�ii~jztdj
|hqhi
�dq
oidx
����
�c�
td
����
�c��
�p|d
jdth
tufttuh
ihsdit
~j�preh|
tuh
odppdq~jz
|tfthxhjt
~j
ihzfie
td
tuh
�fi~dr|
�ufit|
fje
zifsu|
p~|yjz
sid�h�t|��{uh
diehi
di
�uidjdpdz}
do
tuh
sid�h�t|
~|
jdt
eh�j~y�h��

�|
sfit
do
tuh
�ii~jztdj
h�dit|k
qh
uf�h
jdq�dxsphthe
tuh
�i|t
eifg
do
f
�ihp~x~jfi}
�jz~jhhi~jz
�hsdit
odi
tuh
ihspf�hxhjt
do
tuh
{f}pdi
�rxs�tfydj
fje
|r�x~�he
td
tuh
{dqj
do
�fiihjtdj
odi
ih�~hq
f|
ih�dxxhjehe
~j
tuh
����
|tre}��phf|h
fe�~|h
~o
}dr
jhhe
fj}
dtuhi
ehtf~p|�d}���
 ¡¢£¤¥¥¦¢�§̈
©¢¤ª«¬¤£¥
®¡£¬
̄°±§«ª«¥«�£
©²¡££«£³
́¤µ¤²�̈¶¤£¥·¡£
̧¤¥¢¤
¹�¶̈ ¡£«¤ªº́
»¼
½¾¿ÀÁÂÃÀÂÄ¼Á
̧º
»¼
Å½¾¿Æ
ÇÈÇÀÁÈ½¼� ¡¢£¤¥¥É·¡£̧ ¤¥¢¤¹�Ê°�¶ÈÈ¾¾
̧¡«£
Ë¥¢¤¤¥
Ë§«¥¤
Ã¾¾
Ì¡«¢Í¡Î
·̄
ÂÂ¾¿¼
 


¼¾ÏÂÃÏÂÁ
¼¼º¿½
̄¸ ¡̧«²
À
Ð�¢¥Ñ°§¥¥
®¤³¢¡£¬
ǺÒ¹́ Æ
À
Ó§¥²��Ô

Ñ¥¥̈ªºÏÏ�§¥²��ÔÊ�ÍÍ«°¤¿ÄÃÊ°�¶Ï¶¡«²Ï«¬Ï̄ ȬÔ̄¦ÖÔ̧ ×ØÃÙÚÙ¾®Ú̄ Ã̧ ×̄¥Ð́ ØÃ̧ �¼Ņ̃ Ù́¾®Ú ¶ÛÚÌ×ÙÚ°¾ÛÚ̧ ÃÙ³̄ Ȭ Ü¹¾¹ ÖÇÝ®¼́ ×ÞÛÓÍßÂÌ×Ü¿̈Çß¿́ ¼Ï¼

DRAFT



���������	
�������
�
�������
������
���
�
�������
���
��� 
�!�"��!
#$����%�&
'()*+��
,)-()*+��./(*0+�)+1�21�034���5+6
789:8;<;=
=>9?
@A#� B�)�C1���D
E+F)(*6
GHIJHK
,E+L)(*62B�)�C1���.6C162/M)FM*M(2F�/3�N L(��+C)D
O)(1&
,�)(1&2F(��+C).P(�Q�M+)1��*�&2F�/3R
A()�M*
%2
J)M0
G01)M0.S(*6S(*6+)S�*21�0K,01)M0.S(*6S(*6+)S�*21�03R
T���+D
U�C*
,VP���+.�C+�(*6�(W&+)S21�03R
B&(*D
X�()),S*&(*.�C+�(*6�(W&+)S21�03R
O�0
A()(-�+
,OA()(-�+.Y(*A+�)+E(*621�03;
(��(1C0+*�S
G9Z
A'KO[\
]
U��&
<Z
;<;̂
]
'(S+6
�*
̂Z<
%+SM6+*�M(�
_*M�S2̀6PR
\)�M1�+
̂
a�*M*F
HMS�)M1�S
;<;92<:b;<;99<<=9<;997cc;Z2̀6PRdeef
ghijkeekl
midjgkf
n
ok
peqqer
st
ue
uvi
wxmd
yiizk{
ek
|si}fg~
yejk�k{l
o
vg�i
g�g�vif
g�et~
ep
uvi
qg}u
|o�
}s�y��if
ue
�gs�s�ij
wesku~
�r�uvesu
g�g�vyiku}�
fguif
�sq~
�l
�����

�qig}i
keuiuvgu
uv�}
|o�
�}
�g}if
ek
uvi
fi�iqetyiku
ep
���
ji}�fikzgq
sk�u}
tqs}
g
ji}ugsjgku
gkf
��
jeey
�kk
ekuvi
�jj�k{uek
tjetiju~�

|vi
�kgq
gttje�gq}
pej
�jj�k{uek
�k�qsfi
g
yg��ysy
ep
���
ji}�fikzgq
sk�u}
n
gjifs�zek
ep
���
ji}�fikzgq
sk�u}
������

|vi
e�}iu
ep
uvi
uj�t}
tij
fg~
g}}e��guif
r�uv
uvi
���ji}�fikzgq
sk�u}
jifs�zek
rg}
��irif
g}
�i�k{
e�}iu
�~
uvi
gff�zek
ep
uvi
��
g�ji}
ep
weyyij��gq��sjuvijl
uvi
gttje�gq
ep
gk~
ep
uvi
yeji
ujg��n�kuik}i
s}i}
tijy��if
�k
uvi
w
weyyij��gq
��}uj��u�q�}uif
�k
�i�zek
�n�������
ep
uvi
|erk
�ek�k{
xjf�kgk�i
gkf
}verk
ek
tg{i}
��
gkf
��
ep
uvi
g�g�vif�et~
ep
�jz�qi
��
ji�s�ji}
}s�y�}}�ek
ep
g
}ti��gq
s}i
tijy�u
rv��v
�}
ji��irif
gkf
i�uvij
gttje�if
ejf�}gttje�if
skfij
g
}itgjgui
qi{�}qgz�i
tje�i}}
�~
|erk
wesk��q�

|vi
�ti��gq
�}i
�ijy�u
}s�y�}}�ekji�s�jiyiku}
�k�qsfi
uvi
ji�s�jiyiku
ue
tjitgji
gkf
}s�y�u
��k
gkgq~}�}
ep
uvi
�ytg�u
ek
uvi
|erk�}ujgk}tejugzek
kiurej 
gkf
uvi
g��q�u~
ep
gf¡g�iku
}ujiiu}
gkf
�kuij}i�zek}
ue
i���ikuq~
gkf
}gpiq~ye�i
uvi
�eqsyi
ep
ujg��
{ikijguif
�~
uvi
fi�iqetyikul
gqek{
r�uv
i}zygui}
ep
�e}u
gkf
yigk}
eptje��f�k{
�ytje�iyiku}
ji�s�jif
ue
}ij���i
uvi
tjete}if
}ti��gq
s}i��
ok
gff�zek
ue
uvi
peji{e�k{l
uvi
¢ek�k{
gttje�gq}
pej
�jj�k{uek
�k�qsfi
g
ji�s�jiyiku
pej
ure
qgki}
�tqs}usjk
qgki�
pej
uvi
i�uik}�ek
pej
�qr�k{uek
£esqi�gjf
�sul
�k
g� kerqif{�k{
uvi
teuikzgq
pej
gff�zekgqujg��l
ri
gffif
uvi
ji�s�jiyiku
pej
�jj�k{uek
ue
�ek}ujs�u
uvi
i�uik}�ek
ep
�qr�k{uek
£esq�gjf
ue
g
�nqgki
f���fif
�r�uv
usjk
qgki}�
jegf
}i�zek
pjey
¤eyi
fiteu
ue
uvi
weyyij��gq
mgkf
£g~
��vg}i
��
�kuvi
¥���
�qig}i
gf��}i
�p
~es
kiif
gk~
gff�zekgq
�kpejygzek�¦e~

§̈©
ª«¬®̄̄°¬̈±²
³¬®́µ¶®̄·
̧«¶
¹º»±µ́µ̄µ̈
³¼«µ½
¾®¿®¼̈²À®̄Á«
Â®̄¬®
Ã̈ À²«µ®́¾Ä
ÅÆ
ÇÈÉÊËÌÍÊÌÎÆË
ÂÄ
ÅÆ
ÏÇÈÉÐ
ÑÒÑÊËÒÇÆ§ª«¬®̄̄ÓÁ«Â®̄¬®Ã̈ Ôº̈ÀÒÒÈÈ
Â«µ
Ȭ¬®®̄·
Õ±µ̄®
ÍÈÈ
Ö«µ¬×«Ø·
Á¹
ÌÌÈÉÆ

ÆÈÙÌÍÙÌË·
ÆÆÄÉÑ
¹Â Â«µ¼
Ê
Ú̈ ¬̄Ûº±̄̄·
̧®½¬«¶
Ï¾ÜÃ¾Ð
Ê
Ý±̄¼̈̈ Þ

Û̄̄²́ÄÙÙ̈±̄¼̈̈ ÞÔ̈××µº®ÉÎÍÔº̈ÀÙÀ«µ¼Ùµ¶Ù¹¹ßÞ¹°àÞÂáâÍãäãȨ̀ä¹ÍÂá¹̄Ú¾âÍÂ©ÆÛÂ¾ãȨ̀äªÀåäÖáãäºÈåäÂÍã½¹ß¹æØáÛÛç̈ ÇÈØÝÀèÇé¬ÌÀæºÝºêÉ¾ ÆÙÌ

DRAFT



� �������������	
��� ��������������������������� !�"���#�����$

���%&	��������$'�((���
)�'��*�*���������+$�,-$./�010��1��.����/�2���0��13*415.01��41�0��+�67.��8�9�7#*:9;��*6�#�<
� ���

DRAFT



 
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

 
To:      Martin Crim, Town Attorney, Town of Warrenton 
 
From:      Commission on Local Government Staff  
 
Subject:   Request for Additional Materials Regarding the Voluntary Settlement Agreement 

between the Town of Warrenton and Fauquier County 
 
Date:     September 23, 2024 
 
Mr. Crim, 

Thank you for hosting the Commission on Local Government for the site visit and presentations 
in Warrenton last week. Pursuant to 1VAC50-20-390N, the Commission is requesting responses 
to the following questions regarding the Town’s water and sewer systems along with any 
reports or other materials that you believe are relevant to answering the following questions:  

1. Does the Town currently have plans to upgrade its existing sewage treatment plant? If 

so, what would each proposed upgrade do? How much would each upgrade cost? Why 

is each upgrade important to the Town? What is the implementation schedule for each 

upgrade?  

2. Does the Town currently have plans to increase the capacity of its existing sewage 

treatment plant or of the entire system with an additional treatment plant? How much 

would the plan to increase the capacity cost? What is the implementation schedule for 

increasing the capacity?  

3. What are the obstacles to increasing the capacity of the existing plant and/or for the 

system as a whole? 

4. What impact, financial or otherwise, would increasing the capacity of the sewage 

system in the Town have on the Town’s water and sewer customers? 

5. When does the existing Taylor Run pump station need to be replaced, and what is the 

current estimated cost for doing so? 

6. At the public hearing, the Commission heard testimony that the existing sewage 

treatment plant discharges effluent into a body of water that cannot support the 

current amount of discharge and that the Town’s current discharge is grandfathered. 

What is the maximum amount of effluent that is allowed to be discharged into that 

DRAFT



Crim 
September 23, 2024 
Page 2 
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

body of water under current law? What amount does the Town currently discharge? 

Does the body of water have the capacity to take on the additional discharge created by 

any expansions of the existing sewage treatment plant? 

7. At the public hearing, the Commission heard testimony that there is a deed restriction 

on the property where the existing sewage treatment plant sits. Please provide evidence 

of such deed restriction, if it exists. Does the Town have plans to attempt to remove the 

deed restriction?  

Please provide responses by the close of business Friday, September 27th, and provide a copy of 
your responses and any supporting materials to Ms. Galleher and Mr. Foote. If you have issues 
with this deadline, please let us know as soon as possible. Additionally, if you need to use a 
large file electronic transfer, we can arrange one for you. 

Sincerely, 

 

 

W. LeGrand Northcutt 

Commission on Local Government Staff 

 

DRAFT



���������	
������
���
����������
�����������
����
���
��������� !"
#$�� %
&'
(!)� !*+$%,+$%,-�+�%')�!./���0�-
123435256
6766
8#9� :���;)���"
<-=�$%,
>?@�?A
(<-B�$%,':���;)���*,;),'C �= % $'=�C.�D B$��-;�"
0�$)E
>��$)E'=$��-;�*F$�G� -�)��%�E'=�CA
(��$)E'=$��-;�*F$�G� -�)��%�E'=�C.H
I���-"
J�;%(KF���-*�;-�$%,�$LE-�+')�!.H
M$LE-�"
�;$+-
>?@�?A
(�;$+-'M$LE-�*,;),'C �= % $'=�C.NOPQRSTUVWOQO
XY
SZ
Y[Z\O
Z]
̂ZQ_
]ZQ
̀WO
QO\aR[ObOS̀
VRcaZQ
deS
feb\
g̀RhZSi
̂O
RQO
̂ZQ_XSP
eSTOQ
̀WO
\QZjOQY
ZS
̀WO\QZ\OQ̀c
]QZb
̀WO
TOkOaZ\OQ
Z]
lQQXSP̀ZSm
nRS
oÒQO
WRY
\QZ\ZYOT
RpRSTZSXSP
̀WO
VRcaZQ
feb\
g̀RhZSU
pè
̀WObRqOQ
XY
Yhaa
eSTOQ
TXY[eYYXZSm
lSZ̀WOQ
Z\hZS
XY
]ZQ
̀WO
VẐS
̀Z
̀R_O
̀WO
[eQQOS̀
VRcaZQ
deS
feb\
g̀RhZS
ZrXSORST
[ZSkOQ̀
X̀
XS̀Z
R
PQRkX̀c
sẐ
]R[XaX̀cm
VWOQO
XY
[eQQOS̀ac
SZ
[ZỲ
\QZtO[hZS
]ZQ
̀WXY
̂ZQ_m
VWO
VẐS
̂ZeaT
YhaaẐS
̀WO
\QZ\OQ̀c
RST
bRXS̀RXS
̀WO
SÔ
PQRkX̀c
YcỲOb
X]
̀WR̀
XY
̂WR̀
̂O
OST
e\
TZXSPm
VWO
VẐS
RST
̀WOTOkOaZ\OQ
̂Xaa
SOOT
̀Z
̂ZQ_
Zè
̀WOYO
TÒRXaY
RY
\RQ̀
Z]
̀WO
TOkOaZ\bOS̀
\QZ[OYYm
lY
]ZQ
̀WO
uuVf
[R\R[X̀c
v\OQ
cZeQ
Z̀WOQ
ObRXa
Z]
̀ZTRcwU
̀WO
aXbXhSP
]R[̀ZQ
XY
̀WO
nfxyg
\OQbX̀m
z]
xy{
R\\QZkOYRS
e\PQRTO
XS
[R\R[X̀c
̀Z
|m}
o~xU
̀WO
uuVf
̂Xaa
pO
RpaO
̀Z
WRSTaO
̀WR̀
R�OQ
̀WO
\QZ\ZYOT
[R\X̀RaXb\QZkObOS̀Y
RQO
[Zb\aÒOm
��oRQhS
 �����
�
����



������������
��������
���}�|�
�RaaY
�ZQT
dZRTU
geX̀O
|}}
oRSRYYRYU
nlm
�}�}�xXQO[̀�
v�}|w
  |����}^̂ m̂YRSTYRSTOQYZSm[Zb
¡
b[QXb¢YRSTYRSTOQYZSm[Zb
¡
�XZ
¡
k£RQT
¤¥Vz£y
]QZb
gRSTY
lSTOQYZS
f£�
VWXY
bOYYRPO
RST
X̀Y
RqR[WbOS̀Y
RQO
[ZS¦TOShRa
RST
bRc
pO
\QZ̀O[̀OT
pc
̀WO
RqZQSOc§[aXOS̀
\QXkXaOPOm
z]
cZe
RQO
SZ̀
̀WOSRbOT
RTTQOYYOO
ZQ
X]
̀WXY
bOYYRPO
WRY
pOOS
RTTQOYYOT
̀Z
cZe
XS
OQQZQU
cZe
RQO
TXQO[̀OT
SZ̀
̀Z
QORTU
TXY[aZYOU
QO\QZTe[OU
TXỲQXpèOU
TXYYObXSR̀O
ZQZ̀WOQ̂XYO
eYO
̀WXY
̀QRSYbXYYXZSm
faORYO
SZh]c
̀WO
YOSTOQ
XbbOTXR̀Oac
pc
O�bRXa
RST
TOaÒO
RST
TOỲQZc
̀WXY
bOYYRPO
RST
X̀Y
RqR[WbOS̀Ym
̈���©
¤ZQ̀W[eqU
NOPQRST
vxª£xw
«NO~QRSTm¤ZQ̀W[eq¢TW[TmkXQPXSXRmPZk¬���©
oZSTRcU
¥[̀ZpOQ
�U
�}��
|�®�
fo�̄©
£QXbU
oRQhS
dm
«b[QXb¢YRSTYRSTOQYZSm[Zb¬�°©
~RaaOWQU
VQR[c
v̀QR[cmPRaaOWQ¢]Re±eXOQ[ZeS̀cmPZkw
«̀QR[cmPRaaOWQ¢]Re±eXOQ[ZeS̀cmPZk¬i
�ZZ̀OU
²ZWS«t]ZZ̀O¢ ẀOaRSTaR̂cOQYm[Zb¬i
gR̂cOQU
£WRYO
vxª£xw
«£WRYOmgR̂cOQ¢TW[TmkXQPXSXRmPZk¬�³́µ�°©
dO�
dO±eOỲ
]ZQ
RTTXhZSRa
XS]ZQbRhZS
]QZb
̀WO
£N~
¶·
̧¹º»¼½¾
¿À
¹
ÁÂÃÃÂÄ
ÅÆ
»Â
»ÇÈ
ÉÅÈÀ»¼Â½À
ÊÈÃÂÄ¾
»ÇÈ
ËÂÌÌ¼ÀÀ¼Â½ÈºÀ
Ç¹Í
Â½È
ÌÂºÈ
ÉÅÈÀ»¼Â½
ÁÂº
»ÇÈ
ÎÂÄ½Ï¿ÀÀÅÌ¼½Ð
»Ç¹»
»ÇÈ
ÑÒ¿
¼À
¹ÆÆºÂÓÈÍ
¹½Í
»ÇÈ
Î¹ÔÃÂº
ÕÅ½
ÖÅÌÆ
À»¹»¼Â½
¼À
ÌÂÓÈÍ¾
¹ºÈ
»ÇÈºÈ×ÅººÈ½»ÃÔ
ÆÃ¹½À
»Â
ºÈÌÈÍ¼¹»È
»ÇÈ
×ÅººÈ½»
À¼»È
ÊÔ
»ÇÈ
À×ÇÂÂÃØ
·Á
ÀÂ¾
ÄÇ¹»
ÍÂ
»ÇÂÀÈ
ÆÃ¹½À
ÃÂÂÙ
Ã¼ÙÈØ¿½Ô
ÍÈ»¹¼ÃÀ
ÔÂÅ
Ì¼ÐÇ»
×ÅººÈ½»ÃÔ
Ç¹ÓÈ
ÄÂÅÃÍ
ÊÈ
¹ÆÆºÈ×¼¹»ÈÍÚÚ
ÄÂÅÃÍ
»Ç¼À
ÊÈ
×Â½»º¹×»ÈÍ
ÂÅ»¾
ÇÂÄ

ÛÜÝÞßÝÞà¾
ÛÛáàÜ
¿̧ ¹̧¼Ã
Ú
âÂº»Ç×Å»»¾
ãÈÐº¹½Í
äå¶Ëåæ
Ú
çÅ»ÃÂÂÙ

Ç»»ÆÀáÝÝÂÅ»ÃÂÂÙÏÂÁÁ¼×ÈèéßÏ×ÂÌÝÌ¹¼ÃÝ¼ÍÝ¿¿êÙ¿ëìÙ̧ íîßïÎïÜãÎ¿ß̧ í¿»âåîß̧ ÔÛÇ̧ åïÜãÎðÌñÎòíïÎ×ÜñÎ̧ ßïÐ¿ê¿¿òßÉ·ó½ÕÎÑôÅóåóÎ¼·××ñàõèå ÛÝà

DRAFT



���������	�
����������������	�������������������������������������
�������
������������������	����������
�������������������������	���������
�	�����������������	�������������
��������������������������	
������������	��������������������
���������
������������������
�����
��
�������
�������������� ���	�!"�#$%&'()�*+&,-./,,0�1"2"�3$(4+&�5+64.7�8('679,�:4&;4(4'�2$<'&,=$(,�+>�?+/94(;�'()�@+==/(4,7�2$A$6+<=$(,�BCDEFGCEHGIG�J.$66K�6$;&'()"(+&,-./,,L)-.)"A4&;4(4'";+A��MNOPQO�RSTO�TUPT�VW�XOYZNPX�[SX\�USZXQ�PXO�]̂_̀�PV�a�b̂̀ �̀cVd�eSRfPW�TUXSZYU�gUZXQfPWhijklm�nopqr�stouv�wx�yqzopq{|tv}|tv}~o|�vxz�q�����m����o|}t�r��~��~q�~o���r�������������s�km���o��z��r��~�otv}����n���y�~�otv}x��o��z��{}�z}x�po�pvptx����� m��t¡¡~�or��otz����otz�x�t¡¡~�o{¢t�£�p~oz��v��x�����y�otz�x�t¡¡~�o{¢t�£�p~oz��v��x����¤�¥���~r�¦��vy§¢���~{��~¡tv}¡ẗ�~o|xz�q�¤��ẗ�~or�n�t|~����n���yn�t|~x�ẗ�~o{}�z}x�po�pvptx�����©ª«� �m�w¬��w~£�~|��¢�o�t}}pu�vt¡�pv¢�oqtu�v�¢o�q���~�n�����tv|r��~�otv}x�®¡~t|~�|~~���~�t�tz�~}�}�z�q~v�|�tv}���~�o~|��v|~|�tv}�¡pv|��~¡�̈�pv�o~|��v|~������~n�qqp||p�v̄|�o~£�~|��¢�o�t}}pu�vt¡�qt�~opt¡|r�̈�pz��°�o~�~t��¢�o�z�v�~vp~vz~r�¢�¡¡�̈~}����tv|̈~o|�pv�ªk±²³���x��������~|���~���̈v�z�oo~v�¡���t�~��¡tv|�������ot}~�p�|�~́p|uv��|~̈t�~��o~t�q~v���¡tv�µ�°¢�|�r�̈�t��̈��¡}~tz���o���|~}����ot}~�}�µ���̈�q�z��̈��¡}�~tz�����ot}~�z�|�µ�¶���p|�~tz�����ot}~�pq��o�tv�������~��̈vµ�¶�t��p|���~�pq�¡~q~v�tu�v�|z�~}�¡~�¢�o�~tz�����ot}~µ�·���ķ ��·¹º�¹±j�¹²»�ª�¼©���·��½jk �ºº�k¾�j�½¹¿j¿�¼À�j�½±¹ ¿�¼À�¹�²�lk²�j�¿Á¿�¼��·�Â¹º��̧¹��j��j�¹�l����Ã±¹���ÄÂÂ�ÃÅ³��Â��¹j�� ©jj���±»�¿���·���·¿j²�»�¹j�k¾��·��k�¼k¿�¼½±¹���k�ªj¿�¼��·��k©�²¹��²�½±¹����k� ©jj����º�¹�²¹j²º³�Æ½¼j¹²�º�¹j��¿l½kj�¹���ª� ¹©º���·��¾¹ ¿±¿�»�¿º�º�j©¼¼±¿�¼��k�l¹¿��¹¿�� ©jj����²¹¿±»k½�j¹Çk�º�²©���k�¹¼�²�¹�²�¾¹¿±¿�¼À���²�k¾�±¿¾���È©¿½l���³�É��º·kj�À��·�º��j�È©¿j�²©½¼j¹²�ºÊ¿l½jkË�l���º�¹j��¹�j�º©±��k¾�²�¾�jj�²�l¹¿����¹� ��kË�j��·��»�¹jº³�ÌÍ¹ ·�²�¹º�¹ÃÎi�¿º��·��½kjÇk��k¾��·�� ©jj�����ÉÃ�¾kj�©Ç±¿Ç�º�Ä�ķ ��k¾�Â¹jj���k��ÏÐÏÑÒÏÐÓÐ�Â¹��j�¹�²��̧�j��¹½¿�¹±�Él½jkË�l����Ã±¹�Å³�É��¹²²j�ºº�º��·��½©j½kº�ºÀ� kº�ºÀ�¹�²�¿l½±�l���¹Çk�º ·�²©±��¾kj��¹ ·�©½¼j¹²�³��·����Çj�� ©jj����¹²k½��²��ÉÃ�¿º�¹Ë¹¿±¹ª±��¹���·¿º�±¿�Ô³��ķ ���k©� ¿±�¹²k½��²��·���ÉÃ�k�Õ©���ÖÖÀ�ÏÐÏ×�ª»�ØÙ�ÒÏ×ÒÐÑÒÐÖÀ�̧·¿ ·�̧¹º�½¹j��k¾��ķ ���k©� ¿±�¹¼��²¹�¿��l�ÉÉ³i³ª³�

ÚÛÜÝÞÜÝß�ÚÚàßÛ�áâ â�
��ã�ä���������������	�åæçèæé�ã�ê������

�����àÜÜ�����������
��ëìÞ����Ü��
�Ü
	Üááí�á ��âîïÞð�ðÛ��áÞâîá�äæïÞâ�Ú�âæðÛ��ñ�ò�óîð��Ûò�âÞð�áíááóÞô�õ�ö�÷ø�õæõ�
���òßùëæ ÝÜß

DRAFT



��������������	��
�������������	����������������������	�����������������������������������������������������	������������������	�������������������������������������	��������	�������������������	��������������	�������	�����������������	���������������������	���������� !�"#$%$�&%$�' �()&'*�+ %�&'�&,,-. '&)�*$/&0$�"%$&"1$'"�()&'"�23%%$'")45�6#$�()&''$,�7768-1(% 9$1$'"*�/-))�%$*3)"�-'�&�2&(&2-"4�-'2%$&*$�" �:5;�<=>�+ %�"#$�$?-*.'0�7768�+&2-)-"4�-'"#$�) '0�%3'!�(% @$2"$,�" � 223%�&A$%�"#$�'$?"�%$'$/&)� +�"#$�6 /'B*�C8>DE�($%1-"5�6#$�6 /'B*23%%$'"�($%1-"�FCG;;HIIJHK�-*�&L&2#$,�&',�-*�9&)-,�M$"/$$'�E$("$1M$%�I!�H;HH�&',�G303*":I!�H;HJ5�N��������	��������	���O���������������������	�������������	�������������������P��������	���������������	����6#$� ')4� M*"&2)$*�" �-'2%$&*-'0�"#$�2&(&2-"4� +�"#$�$?-*.'0�7768�&%$�FIK�&�1 ,-Q2&. '�" �"#$6 /'B*�'$?"�C8>DE�($%1-"�&',�FHK�2 1()$. '� +�"#$�()&''$,�2&(-"&)�-1(% 9$1$'"*5�R��������	��������S�T������������	������S������������������	�������������	��������������������	��
���	��������	��
���U���������������������������� '$V�"#$�(% @$2"$,�-'2%$&*$�-'�3*$%�%&"$*� 9$%�&�Q9$W4$&%�($%- ,�-*�,3$�" �"#$�2 *"� +�%$1$,-&.'0"#$�6 /'B*�&0-'0�7768�&',�&,,%$**-'0�,$+$%%$,�1&-'"$'&'2$5�X��������	���������	����������
������Y�����������������������O���������S������	�������	����������������������������������6#$�6&4) %�831(�E"&. '�-*�*)&"$,�" �M$�%$()&2$,�-'�Z[WH;HJ�&',�-*�23%%$'")4�$*.1&"$,�" �2 *"\5:�1-))- '�, ))&%*�&*� 3")-'$,�-'� 3%�]̂8�F&L&2#$,K5�_�������̀���	����O���	������S��	��a����������	���������������	����	�����������������������������������	�������b������������O��������������	������������������	����������������������	����������	���	��
���U������������	����������������	�������	�������	���������������������b������	����������������O�����	������������	���������	����������������	��
����������������	������������	��O������������	�����	��������������c������	���������������	������������O���������������������	��������������������������������6#$�"$*.1 '4�" �/#-2#�4 3�%$+$%�/&*�3'*3(( %"$,�M4�&'4�+&2"3&)�&'&)4*-*5�GL&2#$,�-*�"#$�6 /'B*23%%$'"�C8>DE�($%1-"�CG;;HIIJH!�/#-2#�*# /*� '�(&0$*�d�&',�\� +�"#$�8>Z�"#&"�"#$�,$*-0'�e /�-*H5\�<=>�&',�"#$�&)) /$,�,-*2#&%0$�e /�" �"#$�%$2$-9-'0�*"%$&1�-*�3')-1-"$,�F*$$�#-0#)-0#"$,�"$?"K56#$�23%%$'"�,-*2#&%0$�+% 1�"#$�7768�-*�I5J�<=>�M&*$,� '�"#$�&''3&)�&9$%&0$5�6#$�%$2$-9-'0�*"%$&1�-*�&'�3''&1$,�"%-M3"&%4�" �=%$&"�f3'�-'�"#$�f&((&#&'' 2g�/&"$%*#$,5GL&2#$,�-*�"#$�hE=E�E"%$&1WE"&"*�%$( %"�*# /-'0�"#$�I5i�*j3&%$�1-)$�,%&-'&0$�&%$&�&',�"#$1 ,$)$,�) /We /�&',�($&gWe /�+ %�"#$�*"%$&15�6#$�($%1-"�,-*2#&%0$�)-1-"� +�H5\�<=>�$j3&"$*�" &�e /�2 '"%-M3. '� +�:5kJ�23M-2�+$$"�($%�*$2 ',�F2+l*K5��̂'2%$&*-'0�"#$�7768�)-1-"*�+% 1�H5\�" �:5;<=>�/ 3),�$j3&"$�" �d5m�2+l*5�6#$�%&'0$� +�"#$�3''&1$,�"%-M3"&%4B*�($&g�e /�*# /'� '�(&0$�d� +"#$�hE=E�E"%$&1WE"&"*�%$( %"�0 $*�+% 1�HIJ�23M-2�+$$"�($%�*$2 ',�+ %�&�\;W($%2$'"�GD8n�e  ,�F-5$5!+% 1�&�%&-'�$9$'"�$?($2"$,� '2$�$9$%4�"/ �4$&%*� '�&9$%&0$K�" �Hki;�23M-2�+$$"�($%�*$2 ',�+ %�&;5\W($%2$'"�GD8�e  ,�F-5$5!�+% 1�&�%&-'�$9$'"�$?($2"$,� '2$�$9$%4�H;;�4$&%*� '�&9$%&0$K5�6#$*$($&gWe /�Q03%$*�*# /�"#&"�"#$�7768�,-*2#&%0$�-*�&�1-' %�2 '"%-M3" %�" �"#$�($&gWe /� +�"#$3''&1$,�"%-M3"&%45�n�GD8�*"&',*�+ %�G''3&)�D?2$$,&'2$�8% M&M-)-"45�o�������̀���	����O���	������S��	��a����������	���������������	����	����������������������������	�����������	�����	���������������������������������������p���������������������������	���������������S������

qrstustvw�qqxvr�yz z{|}�~����������w�����{����������~����}���

�����xss���}�������|����u����s�{|}s|�syy��y���z��u���r��yuz�y����uz q�z��r��¡�¢�£����r¢�zu��y�yy£u¤¥¦�§�̈ ©�¦�¦�|¥��¢vª�� �sv

DRAFT



���������	����
���	��
����������	���������	����	����
���������������	��������� !"�# ��$�%� &�� ��'��()�*+�,�('��%���(�!(, !'('�-(('� ��.(/(�%(� ��.(%�!�,#0(�1 0(����22�3�$��,��%� $%���(�!(/(�%(� ����(�!(�(!(�,('�, 0(����)� 4�!#��.�1!�"����56789:;<��'%�*�'(!% ��31=>?@A�B�����C	���D	��E�FG����@>>�H������E�IJ��A>=>K������L�MN>@O�PP@Q=NA>�������������	��	��R������S���������	��	��R�B�	�R��T����UV�WTX�Y�	��F����J����	�ZTL��
��������[�������������
����������	\�����������]�̂����	�������̂]��
����	��]_�������������[���WY�]	G�����	���
����������������	���Y��
��������[��
���̂��������������	�]	G������	�E�]	G��������������	���	�����E������	��E�����	�G��E�������̂G��E������������	�	�
�������G����
������������	��Z������	�Y]��
������������������]�̂]��Q�����������������������	]��
��������[�������������
������̀! "a�U	��
�G�E�b�[����M�cT�O�db�e����U	��
�G�S�
������[����[	�f<(��a�H	��]E�F�����̂ ���A@E�A>A?�gL=g�ZH� a�T���E�H����D��d�����S���������	��	�f1,a�e����
�E�����]�M����]�[����
�SY�GhG����	G�]�[	�O�d����]�[����
�SY�GhG����	G�]�[	�fi�C		��E�j	
dkY		��S�
�������]�����	�fi�F��]��E�T
����M�cT�O�dT
����F��]��S�
������[����[	�f<&lm(,�a�D�hG����Y	�������	����Y	����	�Y�	���
��Tbe�TJn�WVUL�X�������H����[��op�qrstpuv�wxyrzy�zyy�t{y�rttr|{y}�xyttys�~s���t{y�����pzzp�uysz�sy��yztpu��r}}ptp�urx�pu~�s�rtp�u�~s��t{y����u�r~tys�xrzt��yy��z�{yrspu�z���z�rx�r�zv�xyt��y��u���p~�����{r�y�ru����yztp�uz����{ru�zv��y�sru}������������������������� ��¡��¢���£�¤¢�¥�¦��¤¥§��¢̈�©¢�¢�� �ª���«�����¬���§¢�©�����®�««��¢�¥� �̄�¤�ª«����°±²³́µ±³¶µ·µ�̧��¤¤¹�¤�©��������������º�����̄¢�©¢�¢��©�̄��»¼½¾¿½�ÀÁÂ½�ÂÃ¾Â�ÄÅ�Æ½ÇÈ¼¾Æ�ÉÁÆÊ�ÃÁÈÆ¿�¾Æ½�ËÌÍÎ�¾Ä�Ï�ÐÌÎÎ�ÑÄÒ�ÓÁÀÔ¾Å�ÂÃÆÁÈÇÃ�ÕÃÈÆ¿Ô¾ÅÖ

×ØÙÚÛÙÚÜv�××ÝÜØ��q qrpx�Þ�ß�st{|�ttv��y�sru}�àáo�áâ�Þ�ã�tx���

{ttäzÝÙÙ��tx�����~~p|yåæÛ�|��Ù�rpxÙp}Ù��ç���è�qéêÛë�ëØ���Ûqé�tßáêÛq�×{qáëØ��ì�í�îéë�|Øí�qÛë��ç��îÛ�ïðuñ�òó�ðáð�pï||íÜôåá ÜÙÜ

DRAFT



24 

 

 

Appendix B 

Town of Warrenton  - Water and Sewer System Capacity Evaluation 

Update 

 

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page i 
 
 

 

  

Town of Warrenton – Water and Sewer 

System Capacity Evaluation Update 

 

 

12/06/2022 
 

Work Order Number:  18672 
Contract Number:  WW-000032-007 
Fund Number:   690-C69300 
 
 

Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton, VA 

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page ii 
 
 

Table of Contents 
Table of Contents ....................................................................................................................................................... ii 

List of Tables .............................................................................................................................................................. ii 

List of Figures ............................................................................................................................................................. ii 

Appendices ................................................................................................................................................................ iii 

1. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................................1 

2. Purpose ...............................................................................................................................................................2 

3. Existing Water Capacity and Demands ...............................................................................................................3 

3.1 Water Production, Distribution and Demand ..............................................................................................3 

3.2 Water Production Data and Water Billing Data ..........................................................................................4 

4. Existing Wastewater Treatment Capacity ...........................................................................................................5 

4.1 Wastewater Flows ......................................................................................................................................5 

4.2 Wastewater System Extraneous Flows ......................................................................................................6 

5. Future Water Demand .........................................................................................................................................7 

5.1 Projected Water Demand from New Developments ...................................................................................7 

5.2 Future Water Demand and Water Supply Capacity ...................................................................................8 

6. Future Wastewater Loading ............................................................................................................................. 13 

6.1 Wastewater Loading Projections ............................................................................................................. 13 

6.2 Future Wastewater Loading and Capacity .............................................................................................. 13 

7. Turkey Run and Taylor Run Wastewater Pumping Station Capacities............................................................ 18 

 

List of Tables 
Table 5.1: Residential Water Demands per Unit ........................................................................................................7 

Table 5.2: Commercial Water Demands per Square Foot .........................................................................................7 

Table 5.3: Total Water Demand per Land Use Type ..................................................................................................8 

 

List of Figures 
Figure 3.1: Average Daily Produced Water 2015 - 2021............................................................................................3 

Figure 3.2: Unaccounted for Water 2015 - 2021 ........................................................................................................4 

Figure 4.1: Average Wastewater Flows 2015 – 2021 ................................................................................................5 

Figure 4.2: Average Billed Water vs. Wastewater 2015 – 2021 .................................................................................6 

Figure 5.1: Water Demand by Proposed Developments ............................................................................................9

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page iii 
 
 

Figure 5.2: Buildout in 2040 Water Demand ........................................................................................................... 10 

Figure 5.3: 1% Growth Water Demand to Buildout ................................................................................................. 11 

Figure 5.4: 2.5% Growth Water Demand to Buildout .............................................................................................. 12 

Figure 6.1: Wastewater Loading by Proposed Developments ................................................................................ 14 

Figure 6.2: Buildout by 2040 Wastewater Loading .................................................................................................. 15 

Figure 6.3: 1% Growth in Wastewater Loading to Buildout ..................................................................................... 16 

Figure 6.4: 2.5% Growth in Wastewater Loading to Buildout .................................................................................. 17 

 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 Water & Wastewater Projection Allocation Summary .......................................................................... 19 

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 1 
 
 

1. Executive Summary 
Whitman, Requardt & Associates (WRA) has updated the April 2015 Water and Sewer Capacity Evaluation to 
include new data and to determine the impact of potential new housing and commercial development in the Town 
and in the Town’s water and wastewater service area.  Data on potential development was provided by the 
Warrenton Community Development Department.  WRA estimated water demand and wastewater loadings from 
new developments including impacts to water and wastewater system capacity from overall development over time 
through year 2040.     

The current water system capacity is 2.68 MGD from 2 reservoirs and 3 groundwater production wells.  The Town’s 

Water Filtration Plant has a capacity of 3 MGD.  Water from the reservoirs is treated at the Filtration Plant and well 
water is treated at the well head.  Average water production from 2015 through 2021 is 1.16 MGD (Figure 3.1).  
The current wastewater system treatment capacity at the Town’s Wastewater Treatment Plant is 2.5 MGD. The 

average daily wastewater loading from 2015 through 2021 is 1.86 MGD (Figure 4.1).  The Town is planning on 
expanding the capacity of the Wastewater Treatment Plant to 3 MGD over the next 10 years.  

The estimated water system demand from the combination of the developments analyzed by WRA is 1.31 MGD.  
The estimated buildout water demand plus the 2021 water demand of 1.11 MGD provides an estimate of 2.42 MGD 
of future water demand (Figure 5.1).  The estimated wastewater loading demand from the combination of the 
developments is 1.18 MGD.  The estimated buildout wastewater loading plus the 2021 wastewater loading of 1.72 
MGD provides an estimate of 2.9 MGD of future wastewater loading (Figure 6.1). 

Per this analysis the Town of Warrenton has adequate water supply capacity and wastewater treatment capacity to 
accommodate the new housing and commercial developments identified by the Community Development 
Department.  Several assumptions and assertions are included in this conclusion: 

 Water demand projections are conservative.  Water demand and wastewater loading can be monitored as 
developments came online to project future demand with greater accuracy. 

 Unaccounted for water or the difference between billed water and water production and billed water is 
approximately 10%.  This compares favorably to other communities in Northern Virginia 

 The Virginia Department of Health (VDH) requires that communities submit a plan for increasing or 
providing for additional water system capacity when demand reaches 80% of permitted capacity.  For 
Warrenton, the 80% threshold limit will be reached when all the development included in this analysis is in 
place.  Depending on the Town’s service area growth rate, this threshold could be reached in the 2050 

decade or beyond. 
 Extraneous water entering the wastewater system, also referred to as infiltration and inflow (I&I) constitutes 

about 49% of the wastewater flow entering the wastewater treatment plant.  This level of I&I, although high, 
is not unusually high for wastewater collection systems similar in age to Warrenton’s.   WRA recommends 

that the Town continue to investigate and remediate I&I problems in the service area. 
 The Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) recognizes flow loadings approaching 95% of the 

design capacity (or 2.85 MGD) as the threshold level for planning WWTP capacity management strategies 
and improvements.  This threshold level will be reached when all the development included in this analysis 
is in place. Depending on the Town’s service area growth rate, this threshold could be reached in 2045 or 
beyond. 

 The Turkey Run Pump Station can be used to receive flows from Laurel Ridge Community College.  
Although flows from Laurel Ridge can be managed by the Turkey Run PS, a detailed analysis should be 
made of the pump station before any additional flows are added. 

 The Taylor Run Pump Station cannot receive flows from the Arrington Development and the Turkey Run 
Pump Station without improvements to the existing pumping system including the wet well.  A detailed 
analysis of the existing system with recommendations for improvements to handle additional flows should 
be conducted before any new flows are added to this system.  

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 2 
 
 

2. Purpose 
The Town of Warrenton authorized Whitman Requardt and Associates (WRA) to update the Water and Sewer 
System Growth and Capacity Report prepared in April 2015.  The 2015 report evaluated existing and future water 
demand and wastewater loading based on developable lots within the Town and the surrounding service area. 

This report will analyze current and future loadings and demands based on information provided by the Town’s 

Community Development Department and Public Works & Utilities Department.  This information includes data on 
new residential and commercial developments that have been approved by the Town or have been submitted to 
the Town for review and approval.  In this report the following information was also included: 

 Wastewater flow data from the Town’s wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) since 2015 
 Water production data from the Town’s water treatment plant (WTP) since 2015 
 Water supply information for the Town’s reservoirs and wells 
 Water billing information 
 Proposed capacity changes to treatment capacity at the Town’s WWTP 
 Capacity of the Turkey Run Pump Station (PS #9) and the Taylor Run Middle School Pump (PS #6) to 

convey future wastewater flows from new developments in their respective sewer sheds 

 

 

  

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 3 
 
 

3. Existing Water Capacity and Demands 

3.1 Water Production, Distribution and Demand 

Water supply for the Town of Warrenton is provided by 2 reservoirs, located on Cedar Run, and 3 
groundwater wells.  The Airlie reservoir (upstream) and the Warrenton reservoir (downstream), operate in 
series.  The Airlie Reservoir provides a safe yield of 1.16 million gallons per day (MGD) and the Warrenton 
Reservoir provides a safe yield of 1.14 MGD for a total reservoir safe yield of 2.3 MGD.  Reservoir safe 
yield is defined as the rate at which water can be withdrawn during a critical dry period without depleting 
the supply to such an extent that withdrawal of water is no longer economically feasible.  Safe yield is 
determined by the Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ).  Water from the 
Airlie reservoir flows to the Warrenton reservoir further downstream on Cedar Run and is withdrawn from 
the Warrenton Reservoir for treatment at the Water Filtration Plant.  The Water Filtration Plant has a 
capacity of 3 MGD.  Water from the filtration plant is distribution throughout the Town and Town’s water 

service area. 

The Town also owns and operates 3 groundwater production wells.  Well #5 and Well #6 provide 0.076 
MGD of water directly to the Town’s distribution system. Well #3 provides an additional 0.304 MGD of water 

supply and the Town’s total groundwater capacity is 0.38 MGD.  Similar to reservoir safe yield, wells are 

not operated at full capacity all of the time.  However, for purposes of this analysis, groundwater well 
capacity of 0.38 MGD is used.  Water from the Town’s wells are treated at the wellhead before distribution.   

The Town has an approximate total water supply capacity of 2.68 MGD (reservoir plus wells).  

Figure 3.1 depicts average water production from the reservoir and groundwater systems for the years 
2015 to 2021:  

Figure 3.1: Average Daily Produced Water 2015 - 2021 

 

The average water production for 2015 through 2021 is 1.16 MGD.   

 1.06

 1.08

 1.10

 1.12

 1.14

 1.16

 1.18

 1.20

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

M
G

D

Year

Average Daily Produced Water 2015 - 2021

Average Produced Water (MGD)

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 4 
 
 

3.2 Water Production Data and Water Billing Data 

WRA analyzed water production data and water billing data for the period 2015 through 2021.  There are 
approximately 4,800 water accounts (residences and businesses) billed monthly. The billing data provided 
by the Town was adjusted for sale of water to construction contractors and other users not normally billed 
and for water lost through leaks at the water meter.  Water used to fight fires, flush water and sewer mains, 
lost through leaks in the mains or removed illegally through fire hydrants is not accounted for.  Water 
accounts are billed at the end of every month.  

Water produced/distributed data was compared to billed water data on a month-to-month basis.  Water 
volumes were converted to millions of gallons per day (MGD) and the difference between 
produced/distributed water and billed water was compared.  The difference between these two values, is 
defined as unaccounted for water. Figure 3.2 depicts unaccounted for water per year for the period 2015 
to 2021.  

 

Figure 3.2: Unaccounted for Water 2015 - 2021 

 

The average unaccounted for water in the most recent 7-year period is 9.6%.  Unaccounted for water 
includes water lost through leaks in the distribution system, water used in firefighting, water taken illegally 
through fire hydrants and other sources and water used to flush mains and for other water system 
maintenance work. 

The Town’s 10% level of unaccounted for water compares favorably to other communities in Northern 
Virginia and does not indicate significant problems with the water distribution system or problems with the 
way the water system is managed.  

 

  

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Year

UNACCOUNTED FOR WATER 2015 - 2021

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 5 
 
 

4. Existing Wastewater Treatment Capacity 
The Warrenton Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) is permitted for treatment and discharge of 2.5 million 
gallons per day (MGD), average daily flow. Wastewater flows have averaged approximately 1.86 MGD over 
the past 7 years. The Town and WRA are currently conducting preliminary engineering for projects that will 
allow expansion of WWTP capacity to 3.0 MGD, average daily flow.  Section 6 of this report describes how 
future wastewater flow projections will impact the proposed 3.0 MGD WWTP capacity.  

4.1 Wastewater Flows 

Daily wastewater flow data for the period 2015 – 2021 is shown in Figure 4.1. 

Figure 4.1: Average Wastewater Flows 2015 – 2021  

 

Wastewater flows include sewage discharge from households and businesses and extraneous water that 
enters the collection pipeline system.  Extraneous water sources include infiltration of groundwater through 
defection sewer pipe joints, manhole walls and other pipe defects in the collection system.  Extraneous 
flows include Inflow of water discharged directly into the sewer system through basement and foundation 
drains, roof downspouts, manhole covers, cross connections with stormwater systems and other direct 
connections.  Wastewater flows in municipal systems vary from year to year because infiltration and Inflow 
(I&I), varies depending on rainfall.  I&I tends to be higher in years with excessive precipitation (rain and 
snow) such as occurred in 2018. 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

M
G

D

Year

Average Wastewater Flows 2015 - 2021

WASTEWATER FLOWS 2015 - 2021DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 6 
 
 

4.2 Wastewater System Extraneous Flows 

WRA compared wastewater flow data and water billing data for period 2015-2021. Water billing data is the 
best measure of water consumed in municipalities.  Figure 4.2 shows billed water versus wastewater 
loadings in the Town of Warrenton for the last 7 years.   

 

Figure 4.2: Average Billed Water vs. Wastewater 2015 – 2021  

 

Billed water data used in this figure was discounted to account for customer water not returned to the 
wastewater system such as water used in landscape and lawn irrigation. WRA assumed that 90% of water 
billed at an account is returned to the wastewater system.  Average annual I&I for the past seven years 
was calculated by subtracting wastewater flows as recorded at the WWTP from billed water (discounted).  
The difference is the measure of extraneous water or I&I entering the wastewater collection system.  

Average I&I in the Warrenton system is calculated to be 0.92 MGD over the past years or 49% of total flows 
treated at the WWTP.  This amount of I&I in the wastewater collection system is not unusual in municipalities 
with older wastewater collection infrastructure. The calculated 2015-2021 I&I flow component of 49% is 
approximately the same percentage as the I&I component calculated in the 2015 Water & Sewer System 
Capacity Evaluation. 

 

 

 

 

  

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

M
G

D

Year

Average Billed Water vs. Wastewater 2015 - 2021

Water Billed (MGD) Wastewater (MGD)

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 7 
 
 

5. Future Water Demand 

5.1 Projected Water Demand from New Developments 

The Town of Warrenton’s Community Development Department provided WRA with data for proposed 

residential and commercial growth in the Town.  Forty-two (42) projects were identified including residential 
and commercial developments.  WRA also included Laurel Ridge Community College as a potential new 
consumer of Warrenton water and wastewater services.  Laurel Ridge Community College is currently not 
served by the Town’s.   

The developments include new housing (Single-family homes, apartments, townhomes, hotels, senior care 
facilities) and commercial facilities (offices, medical facilities, retail, entertainment, industrial and academic 
facilities).  Projects vary considerably in size from a few single-family houses to hundreds of apartment 
units. Project status varied also, with some developments approved by Community Development and other 
projects in review.  WRA projected water demand and wastewater loadings for the developments based on 
the type of residential or commercial unit within the development.  WRA used standard water demand 
(gallons per day) factor for each type of unit based on water demand factors used by the Town and/or by 
other utilities such as Prince William Service Authority and the Town of Leesburg. Information on the 
proposed developments, including the number of units, the and the total water demand and wastewater 
loading generated by the developments is included in Appendix A.  The demand factors used to calculate 
water demand are included in Table 5.1. 

Table 5.1: Residential Water Demands per Unit 

  Residential Water Demand per Unit (GPD) 
Single-Family (units) 300 

Multifamily (units) 300 
Apartment (units) 300 

Townhouse (units) 300 
Senior Home (units) 100 

Hotel (rooms) 100 
 

It should be noted that conservative demand values were chosen for residential units.  

Commercial demand factors are included in Table 5.2.  

Table 5.2: Commercial Water Demands per Square Foot 

  Commercial Water Demand per Square Foot (GPD) 
General (SF) 0.2 

Entertainment (SF) 0.2 
Academic (SF) 0.29 

Office/Employment (SF) 0.29 
Medical Offices (SF) 0.29 

Industrial Water Demand per Square Foot (GPD) 
General (SF) 0.02 

 

According to the U.S. Department of Education, Laurel Ridge Community College (LRCC) had a student 
population of 3,474 students in the 2018 – 2019 academic year. WRA used 15 gallons per day per student 
as the factor for calculating LRCC demand.  Demand for proposed classroom facilities not associated with 
LRCC is based on a GPD/SF basis.  

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 8 
 
 

Additionally, there are some residences in Warrenton that are currently not connected to the Town’s water 

system and/or the sewer system. The Town plans on incorporating these residences into the utility systems 
in the future and WRA included these units when calculating future water demand.  

Table 5.3 summarizes the total number of residential units and commercial square footage and associated 
water demand for the proposed developments: 

Table 5.3: Total Water Demand per Land Use Type 

  Land Use Type Total Units Total Water Demand 
(gal/day) 

Residential 

Single-Family (units) 1,479 469,500 
Multi-Family (units) 120 36,000 
Apartments (units) 1,420 426,000 
Townhouse (units) 296 88,800 

Senior Home (units) 60 6,000 
Hotel (rooms) 360 36,000 

Commercial 

General (SF) 200,711 40,142 
Entertainment (SF) 245,000 49,000 

Academic (SF) 220,000 63,800 
Office/Employment (SF) 40,000 11,600 

Medical Offices (SF) 50,000 14,500 
Industrial General (SF) 759,500 15,190 

Community College Students (unit) 3,474 52,110 
TOTAL 1.31 MGD 

 

5.2 Future Water Demand and Water Supply Capacity 

Total water demand for the target year 2040 was calculated to be 2.42 MGD, assuming all proposed 
developments are eventually constructed. This demand projection value includes the average water 
demand in 2021 (1.11 MGD) plus the total buildout demand (1.31 MGD).  

Figure 5.1 displays cumulative water demand by addition of the demand created by the named 
developments. The order or chronology of the projects is not definitive; however, cumulative water demand 
will not change. DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 9 
 
 

 

Figure 5.1: Water Demand by Proposed Developments

 -

 0.50

 1.00

 1.50

 2.00

 2.50

 3.00

 3.50

W
at

er
 D

em
an

d
 (

M
G

D
)

Proposed Developments

Water Demand by Proposed Developments

Projected Water Demand Safe Yield 80% of Capacity

Water Supply Capacity (2.68 MGD Safe Yield)

Buildout Water Demand (2.42 MGD)80% of System Capacity (2.4 MGD)

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 10 
 
 

Buildout (all developments constructed) water demand is 2.42 MGD compared to water supply capacity of 
2.68.  Estimated demand is 91% of water supply capacity.  Virginia Waterworks Regulation 12 VAC 5-590-
520 requires municipalities to submit a written plan for developing adequate or additional water supply to 
the Virginia Department of Health, Office of Drinking Water, when water production exceeds 80% of the 
permitted design capacity for 3 consecutive months.   

It should be noted that the estimated buildout water demand by development is conservative.  Although the 
time frame for the progression of development construction through buildout is unknown, time-step 
analyses of water demand was also conducted. 

An initial time step progression is shown in Figure 5.2.  This linear growth time-step progression assumes 
that all development is completed by 2040, the target year for the current Warrenton Comprehensive Plan.  
The annual water demand growth rate is 7% for the linear growth model.    

Figure 5.2: Buildout in 2040 Water Demand  

 

Additional water demand growth models were analyzed by WRA.  According to the U.S. Census Bureau, 
population growth in the Town of Warrenton and Fauquier County from 2010 to 2020 averaged 1% annually.  
Figure 5.3 depicts water demand assuming a 1% annual growth in water demand, similar to the most recent 
population growth pattern for The Town.  For this growth model, 80% of system capacity is reached in 2099.   

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 2060

W
at

er
 D

em
an

d
 (

M
G

D
)

Year

Buildout in 2040 Water Demand

2040 Buildout Safe Yield 80% of Capacity

Water Supply Capacity (2.68 MGD Safe Yield)

Buildout Water Demand (2.42 MGD)80% of System Capacity (2.4 MGD)

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 11 
 
 

Figure 5.3: 1% Growth Water Demand to Buildout 

 

Figure 5.4 shows a 2.5% annual increase in water demand.  This model is more consistent with a more 
robust population and economic growth that could occur in Warrenton.  In this case, 80% of capacity is 
reached in 2053.  

  

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 2060 2070 2080 2090

W
at

er
 D

em
an

d
 (

M
G

D
)

Year

1% Growth Water Demand to Buildout

1% Growth Safe Yield 80% of Capacity

Water Supply Capacity (2.68 MGD Safe Yield)

Buildout Water Demand (2.42 MGD)

80% of System Capacity (2.4 MGD)

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 12 
 
 

Figure 5.4: 2.5% Growth Water Demand to Buildout 

  

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 2060

W
at

er
 D

em
an

d
 (

M
G

D
)

Year

2.5% Growth Water Demand to Buildout

2.5% Growth Safe Yield 80% of Capacity

Water Supply Capacity (2.68 MGD Safe Yield)

Buildout Water Demand (2.42 MGD)

80% of System Capacity (2.4 MGD)

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 13 
 
 

6. Future Wastewater Loading 

6.1 Wastewater Loading Projections 

Future wastewater loadings are calculated based on an assumed 90% return of water consumed to the 
wastewater collection system.  Water demand projections are described in Section 5 and included in 
Appendix A.  Appendix A includes a compilation of expected wastewater loadings, based on water demand.   
The estimated total wastewater loading from all the developments described in Appendix A is 1.18 MGD 
(average daily flow basis).  

Future total wastewater loading for Warrenton is estimated by adding the average wastewater flow in 2021 
to the estimated buildout flow. The average daily wastewater flow in 2021 was 1.72 MGD and the additional 
flow from buildout is 1.18 MGD.  Total future estimated wastewater loading is 2.90 MGD.   It should be 
noted that the 2021 wastewater loading includes a significant extraneous water (I&I) component.  I&I from 
the new developments is considered negligible in this analysis, although the base I&I in the beginning year 
of 2021 remains and is a component of overall wastewater loading. 

6.2 Future Wastewater Loading and Capacity 

Figure 6.1 depicts cumulative wastewater loading by addition of the demand created by the named 
developments. The order or chronology of the projects is not definitive; however, cumulative water demand 
will not change.  As shown graphically, the capacity of the existing WWTP (2.5 MGD) is exceeded before 
all the proposed developments are completed.  The Town is currently planning on increasing the capacity 
of the WWTP to 3.0 MGD within approximately 10 years.  Under this wastewater loading model, The Town’s 

wastewater treatment plant would accommodate development currently planned. 

DRAFT



Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 14 
 
 

Figure 6.1: Wastewater Loading by Proposed Developments

 -

 0.50

 1.00

 1.50

 2.00

 2.50

 3.00

 3.50

W
as

te
w

at
er

 P
ro

d
u

ct
io

n
 (

M
G

D
)

Proposed Developments

Wastewater Loading by Proposed Developments

Wastewater Loading WWTP 2.5 MGD Capacity WWTP 3.0 MGD Capacity 95% of 2.5 MGD Capacity 95% of 3.0 MGD Capacity

WWTP Capacity = 2.5 MGD

Future WWTP Capacity = 3.0 MGD

Buildout Wastewater Loading (2.90 MGD)

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 15 
 
 

Although the upsized WWTP will accommodate loadings from the proposed developments, additional WWTP 
capacity enhancements may be necessary as loadings approach 2.90 MGD.  The Virginia Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) recognizes flow loadings approaching 95% of the design capacity (or 2.85 MGD) as 
a trigger point for planning WWTP capacity management strategies and improvements. 

An initial time step progression is shown in Figure 6.2.  This linear growth time-step progression assumes that all 
development is completed by 2040, the target year for the current Warrenton Comprehensive Plan.  The annual 
wastewater loading demand growth rate is the same as for water demand, 7%.  With buildout by 2040, the current 
2.5 MGD WWTP capacity is exceeded by 2034. With the proposed increased WWTP capacity, 95% of treatment 
capacity is reached in 2039.   

Figure 6.2: Buildout by 2040 Wastewater Loading  

 

Similar to the water demand projection graphs, 6.3 depicts wastewater loadings at a 1% annual growth rate.  

 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 2060

W
as

te
w

at
er

 L
o

ad
in

g 
(M

G
D

)

Year

Buildout by 2040 Wastewater Loading

Wastewater Buildout Loading WWTP Capacity 2.5 MGD WWTP Capacity 3.0 MGD

95% of 2.5 MGD Capacity 95% of 3.0 MGD Capacity

Future WWTP Capacity = 3.0 MGD

WWTP Capacity = 2.5 MGD Buildout Wastewater Loading (2.90 MGD)

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 16 
 
 

Figure 6.3: 1% Growth in Wastewater Loading to Buildout 

 

In this case, wastewater loading would not reach the 3 MGD 95% threshold until 2071.  

Figure 6.4 depicts a more robust 2.5% annual rate in wastewater loadings.  

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 2060 2070

W
as

te
w

at
er

 L
o

ad
in

g 
(M

G
D

)

Year

1% Growth in Wastewater Loading to Buildout

1% Growth WWTP Capacity 2.5 MGD WWTP Capacity 3.0 MGD

95% of 2.5 MGD Capacity 95% of 3.0 MGD Capacity

Future WWTP Capacity = 3.0 MGD

WWTP Capacity = 2.5 MGD

Buildout Wastewater Loading (2.90 MGD)

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 17 
 
 

Figure 6.4: 2.5% Growth in Wastewater Loading to Buildout 

 

In this scenario, wastewater loadings would not reach the 3 MGD 95% threshold until 2043.  

 

 

  

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050 2060

W
as

te
w

at
er

 L
o

ad
in

g 
(M

G
D

)

Year

2.5% Growth in Wastewater Loading to Buildout

2.5% Growth WWTP Capacity 2.5 MGD WWTP Capacity 3.0 MGD

95% of 2.5 MGD Capacity 95% of 3.0 MGD Capacity

Future WWTP Capacity = 3.0 MGD

WWTP Capacity = 2.5 MGD

Buildout Wastewater Loading (2.90 MGD)

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 18 
 
 

7. Turkey Run and Taylor Run Wastewater Pumping Station 
Capacities 

The Town of Warrenton owns and operates 11 wastewater lift stations (pump stations) that help convey wastewater 
generated in the outer reaches of the wastewater service area into the central part of the wastewater collection 
system for conveyance by gravity into the wastewater treatment plant.  WRA analyzed the impact of additional 
wastewater loading into the Turkey Run Pump Station (PS #9) and the Taylor Run Pump Station (PS #6).   

In the future wastewater, flows from Laurel Ridge Community College will flow into the Turkey Run PS.   Flows from 
the Turkey Run PS are then discharged to the Taylor Run PS.  Taylor Run will also receive flows from the new 
Arrington development.    

Laurel Ridge Community College is estimated to produce approximately 0.05 MGD of wastewater. Assuming a 
peak flow value of 4, the wastewater volume would increase to 0.2 MGD, or 139 gallons per minute (GPM).  The 
proposed Arrington development is estimated to produce approximately 0.1 MGD of wastewater. A peak volume 
for this flow is 0.4 MGD, or 278 GPM.  

WRA’s analysis of the Turkey Run PS indicates that additional flows from Laurel Ridge Community College can be 
discharged into the Turkey Run PS using the existing pumps, wetwell and pump station appurtenances. 

The Taylor Run PS will receive flows coming from the Turkey Run Pump Station and has a capacity of 600 GPM.  
Current wastewater flows into the Taylor Run PS are estimated to be 704 GPM.  A pumping rate of 704 GPM is 
within the range of the new pumps installed in 2011.  Adding peak flows from Laurel Ridge Community College and 
the proposed Arrington development would increase flows to the Taylor Run PS by 417 GPM (approximately 1121 
GPM).  This increase in flow would require larger horsepower motors and a different impeller if the same pumps 
are used.  Taylor Run PS also currently experiences a large number of pump starts each day.  This condition 
indicates that the wetwell may be too small for existing flows, even though the pumps are able to manage these 
flows. 

The Turkey Run PS appears to be able to receive the future flows from Laurel Ridge Community College while the 
Taylor Run PS would probably need substantial modifications or replacement to serve the Arrington Development 
and the Turkey Run flows. 

WRA recommends that a more detailed analysis be conducted for both stations before additional flows are 
discharged into them. 

 

 

 

  

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 19 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Water & Wastewater Projection Allocation Summary 

  

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 20 
 
 

Totalized Units Based on Project 
Development 

IN-TOWN OUT OF TOWN 
    

TOTALS 
Land Use Type 

Approved 
Projects 
within 

Town Limits 

Partially 
Approved/In 

Process Projects 
within Town 

Limits 

Vacant 
Parcels within 
Town Limits 

Lee 
Highway 

Old 
Town 

Frost/Broadview 
East 

Shirley 
Entitled Single 
Family Homes 

Arrington 
Option C 

Laurel Ridge 
Community 

College 

Water only 
Customers 

added to Sewer 

Sewer only 
Customers 

added to Water 

Residential 

Single-Family 
(units) 

190 36 331 - 206 235 117 50 314 - 63 23 1,479 

Multi-Family (units) - - - - - 120 - - - - - - 120 

Apartment (units) - - - 1,336 84 - - - - - - - 1,420 

Townhouse (units) - - 34 108 7 - 84 - 63 - - - 296 

Senior Home 
(units) 

- - - - - 60 - - - - - - 60 

Hotel (rooms) - - - 115 115 115 - - 15 - - - 360 

Commercial 

General (SF) - 12,550 60,161 98,000 10,000 20,000 - - - - - - 200,711 

Entertainment (SF) - - - 100,000 145,000 - - - - - - - 245,000 

Academic (SF) - - - 220,000 - - - - - - - - 220,000 

Office/Employment 
(SF) 

- - - 40,000 - - - - - - - - 40,000 

Medical Offices 
(SF) 

- - - - - 50,000 - - - - - - 50,000 

Industrial General (sq ft) - - 759,500 - - - - - - - - - 759,500 

Community 
College 

Campus (units) - - - - - - - - - 3,474 - - 3,474 

 

  

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 21 
 
 

Additional Water Demand Based on Projected 
Development               

  IN-TOWN OUT OF TOWN     

TOTAL 
(gal/day) 

 

Land Use Type 

Approved 
Projects 
within 

Town Limits 

Partially 
Approved/In 

Process 
Projects 

within Town 
Limits 

Vacant 
Parcels 
within 
Town 
Limits 

Lee 
Highway 

Old 
Town 

Frost/Broadview 
East 

Shirley 
Entitled Single 
Family Homes 

Arrington 
Option C 

Laurel Ridge 
Community 

College 

Water only 
Customers 
added to 

Sewer 

Sewer Only 
Customers 
added to 

Water 
 

Residential 

Single-Family 
(units) 

57,000 10,800 99,300 - 61,800 70,500 35,100 15,000 94,200 - 18,900 6,900 469,500 
 

Multi-Family (units) - - - - - 36,000 - - - - - - 36,000  

Apartment (units) - - - 400,800 25,200 - - - - - - - 426,000  

Townhouse (units) - - 10,200 32,400 2,100 - 25,200 - 18,900 - - - 88,800  

Senior Home 
(units) 

- - - - - 6,000 - - - - - - 6,000 
 

Hotel (rooms) - - - 11,500 11,500 11,500 - - 1,500 - - - 36,000  

Commercial 

General (SF) - 2,510 12,032 19,600 2,000 4,000 - - - - - - 40,142  

Entertainment (SF) - - - 20,000 29,000 - - - - - - - 49,000  

Academic (SF) - - - 63,800 - - - - - - - - 63,800  

Office/Employment 
(SF) 

- - - 11,600 - - - - - - - - 11,600 
 

Medical Offices 
(SF) 

- - - - - 14,500 - - - - - - 14,500 
 

Industrial General (sq ft) - - 15,190 - - - - - - - - - 15,190  

Community 
College Students (units) 

- - - - - - - - - 52,110 - - 52,110 
 

 

Sub-Total Water 
(MGD) 

0.06 0.01 0.14 0.56 0.13 0.14 0.06 0.02 0.11 0.05 0.02 0.01 1.31 
Average Water 

Demand 
(MGD) 

 

Sub-Total 
Wastewater 

(MGD) 
0.05 0.01 0.12 0.50 0.12 0.13 0.05 0.01 0.10 0.05 0.02 0.01 1.18 

WRA 
Calculated 

Wastewater 
Demand 
(MGD) 

 

 

  

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 22 
 
 

  IN-TOWN OUT OF TOWN   

 Total Water and 
Wastewater Demand 

Including Projected and 
Existing  

Approved 
Projects 

within Town 
Limits 

Partially 
Approved/In 

Process Projects 
within Town 

Limits 

Vacant 
Parcels within 
Town Limits 

Lee 
Highway 

Old Town 
Frost/ 

Broadview 
East 

Shirley 

Entitled 
Single Family 

Homes 

Arrington 
Option C 

Laurel Ridge 
Community 

College 

Water only 
Customers 
added to 

Sewer 

Sewer Only 
Customers 
added to 

Water 
  

 Existing 2021 + New 
Project Water 

Demand (MGD)  
1.11 1.17 1.18 1.32 1.88 2.01 2.15 2.21 2.23 2.34 2.39 2.41 2.42 2.42 

Totalized 
Projected 

Water Demand 
(MGD) 

Existing 2021 + New 
Project Wastewater 

Demand (MGD) 
1.72 1.77 1.78 1.91 2.41 2.53 2.66 2.71 2.72 2.83 2.87 2.89 2.90 2.90 

Totalized 
Projected 

Wastewater 
Demand (MGD) 

DRAFT



 Water & Sewer Capacity Evaluation Update  
Draft Report 

Town of Warrenton 

 

Page 23 
 
 

 

DRAFT



Report on Proffered 
Cash Payments and Expenditures 

By Virginia’s Counties, Cities and Towns 
FY  2024 

Commission on Local Government 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

November 2024

DRAFT



 
 

 

Members of the 
Commission on Local Government (CLG) 

 
 

Chair 

Edwin Rosado 
 

Vice-Chair 

Robert Lauterberg 

 

Diane Linderman, PE 

Ceasor T. Johnson, D.Min. 

Terry Payne 
 
 

Director, Department of Housing and Community Development 
Bryan Horn 

 
 

Policy and Legislative Director 
Trisha Lindsey 

 

CLG Staff for this Report 
LeGrand Northcutt, Senior Policy Analyst 

 
 
 
 

This report is available on the Commission’s website at 
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/clg 

 
 
 
 
 

Main Street Centre 
600 E. Main Street, Suite 300 

Richmond, Virginia 23219 

DRAFT



REPORT OF THE COMMISSION ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT ON
PROFFERED CASH PAYMENTS AND EXPENDITURES BY VIRGINIA'S CITIES, 

COUNTIES, AND TOWNS
FY 2024 

INTRODUCTION 

Section 15.2-2296 of the Code of Virginia generally authorizes local governing bodies to 
accept proffers through conditional zoning. A proffer, as implied by §15.2-2296 of the Code of 
Virginia, is a voluntary offer from a property owner and can be an act, donation of money, a 
product, or services1 that limit or qualify how the property will be used or developed. These 
proffered conditions are in addition to the general, uniform regulations otherwise applicable to 
land within the same zoning district. Upon approval by the local governing body, the proffered 
conditions become part of the rezoning and pass with the ownership of the property.2 Cash 
proffers are a form of conditional zoning where cash payments are offered to offset the impacts 
of a particular development by providing funding for new roads, schools, or other public facilities 
and services. Cash proffers can be used to fund onsite or offsite improvements to offset impacts 
from a new commercial or residential development.3  

In 2016, the Virginia General Assembly passed new legislation addressing residential 
developments and cash proffers; stipulating that onsite or offsite cash proffers must be 
specifically attributable to a proposed new residential development and must directly address an 
impact to an offsite facility. A voluntary cash proffer is considered unreasonable unless the 
residential development created a need for one or more public facility improvements and the new 
development would receive a direct benefit from those improvements. Localities are only allowed 
to accept cash proffers for roads, schools, public safety or parks and recreation that would need 
improvements or a brand new facility as a direct impact of a new residential development. This 
limits how cash proffers can be used for residential developments in the future, however; 
localities can still expend cash proffers for commercial developments for 11 different types of 
uses as listed under §15.2-2303.2 Code of Virginia if the proffers were collected prior to 2016.4 

Although the Code of Virginia has authorized every jurisdiction to use some form of 
conditional zoning since 1987, only localities meeting specific criteria may accept cash proffers. 
The basic rule is stated in § 15.2-2297 of the Code of Virginia, which stipulates that a zoning 
ordinance may include and provide for the voluntary proffering in writing, by the owner, of 
reasonable conditions, prior to a public hearing before the governing body, in addition to 
regulations provided for in the zoning district or zone by the ordinance, as part of a rezoning or 
amendment to a zoning map. However, among other restrictions, the conditions shall not include 
a cash contribution to the locality. Sections 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, and 15.2-2303.1 create 
exemptions to the general rule that allow voluntary cash proffers in high-growth localities, 
localities in certain geographic regions, and New Kent County respectively.  

1 Kamptner, Greg, The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook. (June 2017) Chapter 11, Page 11-1 
2 Virginia Citizens Planning Association and the Virginia Department of Housing and Community 
Development, The Language of Planning, Community Planning Series, V (June, 1986), p. 10. 
3 John H. Foote, “Planning and Zoning,” Handbook of Virginia Local Government Law, ed. by Susan 
Warriner Custer, 2001 Edition, pp. 1-11 – 1-14. 
4 Appendix A 

DRAFT



Section 15.2-2303.2 of the Code of Virginia directs the Commission on Local Government 
to annually collect data concerning local government revenues and expenditures resulting from 
the acceptance of voluntary cash proffers. This cash proffer data comprises either (1) the 
aggregate dollar amount of cash proffer payments collected by the locality; (2) the estimated 
aggregate dollar amount of cash proffer payments that have been pledged to the locality and 
which pledges are not conditioned on any event other than time; and (3) the total dollar amount 
of cash proffer payments expended by the locality in each of the following categories: schools, 
roads and other transportation improvements, fire and rescue/public safety, libraries, parks, 
recreation, and open space, water and sewer service extension, community centers, stormwater 
management, special needs housing, affordable housing, and miscellaneous.  

 The table below shows the statutory authority for and categories of localities eligible to 
accept cash proffers. On the basis of these criteria and decennial census data from the United 
States Bureau of the Census, a total of 162 Virginia localities (49 counties, 27 cities, and 86 towns) 
were eligible to accept cash proffers during FY2024.5 Appendix B provides a list of localities eligible 
by statute to accept cash proffers. 

5  U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census of Population, Number of Inhabitants, Table 4; 

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 2020 Census of Population and Housing, Summary File 1

Statutory 
Authority 

Types of Localities Eligible to Accept Cash Proffers 

§15.2-2298

With the exception of localities eligible under the terms of § 15.2-2303: 
• Any locality with a decennial census growth rate ≥5%;
• Any city adjoining another city or county which had a decennial census

growth rate ≥5%;
• Any towns located within a county which had a decennial census growth

rate ≥5%;
• Any county contiguous with at least three counties which had a decennial

census growth rate ≥5%; and
• Any towns located within a county which was contiguous with at least

three counties which had a decennial census growth rate ≥5%.

§15.2-2303

• Any county with an urban county executive form of government (i.e.,
Fairfax County);

• Any town within a county with an urban county executive form of
government;

• Any city adjacent to or completely surrounded by a county with an
urban county executive form of government;

• Any county contiguous to a county with an urban county executive
form of government;

• Any city adjacent to or completely surrounded by a county contiguous
to a county with an urban county executive form of government;

• Any town within a county contiguous to a county with an urban
county executive form of government; and

• Any county east of the Chesapeake Bay.

§15.2-2303.1 • New Kent County.

DRAFT



SURVEY ON THE USE OF PROFFERED CASH PAYMENTS 

Section 15.2-2303.2 of the Code of Virginia requires localities with populations greater 
than 3,500 that are eligible to accept cash proffers to submit a report of cash proffer activity to 
the Commission within three months of the close of each fiscal year. In July of 2024, Commission 
staff sent by electronic mail a survey6 to the chief administrative officers of the localities that were 
required to report their acceptance of cash proffers during FY 2024. Each locality was requested 
to complete the survey by September 30, 2024. In October, additional follow up was made to the 
jurisdictions that had not responded to the initial request. 

The survey revealed that 41 localities (30 counties, 4 cities, and 7 towns reported cash 
proffer activity during FY2024. This is an increase from FY2023, where 37 localities (27 counties, 
5 cities, and 5 towns) reported cash proffer activity. During the current period, the aggregate 
amount of cash proffers collected and expended by those jurisdictions was $70,450,564.84 and 
$73,308,491.63, respectively. Cash proffer collections decreased by 11.4% from FY2023, and 
expenditures increased by 22.4%.  

The survey results revealed that the largest category of expenditures for cash proffers in 
FY2024 was Community Centers (28.9%, followed by roads and other transportation 
improvements (24.3%, schools (18.1%, and libraries (14.8%. This broad distribution lies in 
contrast to FY23, where roads and other transportation improvements constituted the majority 
of expenditures at 51.3%. Not all of these categories for expenditures are compliant with 
section §15.2-2303.4 of the Code of Virginia, which only allows cash proffers from residential 
developments to be proffered and expended towards schools, public safety, parks and 
recreation, or roads and other transportation improvements. However, the survey still collects 
data for the 11 categories authorized for cash proffers under §15.2-2303.2 Code of Virginia 
because localities can still collect cash proffers for any of the categories listed in §15.2-2303.2 
Code of Virginia for commercial developments7 and due to code provisions that allow localities 
to hold cash proffers for up to twelve years before they need to be expended.8 Therefore, some 
expenditures in FY24 that are not in compliance with §15.2-2303.4 are from proffers that were 
accepted before §15.2-2303.4 of the Code of Virginia went into effect on July 1, 2016.9  

A chart depicting the allocation of expenditures to various improvement categories is 
provided on the next page. All responses from the FY2024 survey for individual local 
governments’ cash proffer activity are reported in Appendix D. Appendix E includes a chart of 
the cash proffer revenues and expenditures for all localities for each fiscal year from FY 2000 
through present.  

(SF 1) 100-Percent Data; U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Redistricting Data 
(Public Law 94-171) Summary File; U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 2020 Census Redistricting 
Data (Public Law 94-171) Summary File. Sec. 1-235, Code of Va. states that unless otherwise specified, unadjusted 
population statistics are to the used in determining the decennial growth rate. See Appendix B for the list of Virginia 
localities with statutory authority to accept cash proffers. 

6 Appendix C contains a copy of the electronic survey instrument. In 2003, the General Assembly enacted HB 2600, 
which changed the scope of the Commission’s survey on the acceptance of cash proffers. The legislature exempted 
localities with a resident population of less than 3,500 from the reporting requirement. Therefore, only 22 of the 86
eligible towns must report on their acceptance of cash proffers.  
7 Appendix A 
8 Code of Virginia § 15.2-2303.2(A)
9 2016 Va. Acts Chapter 322 

DRAFT





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

Section 15.2-2303.2 of the Code of Virginia 

DRAFT



§ 15.2-2303.2. Proffered cash payments and expenditures. 
 

A. The governing body of any locality accepting cash payments voluntarily proffered on or after 
July 1, 2005, pursuant to § 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1 shall, within 12 years of receiving full 
payment of all cash proffered pursuant to an approved rezoning application, begin, or cause to begin (i) 
construction, (ii) site work, (iii) engineering, (iv) right-of-way acquisition, (v) surveying, or (vi) utility 
relocation on the improvements for which the cash payments were proffered. A locality that does not 
comply with the above requirement, or does not begin alternative improvements as provided for in 
subsection C, shall forward the amount of the proffered cash payments to the Commonwealth 
Transportation Board no later than December 31 following the fiscal year in which such forfeiture 
occurred for direct allocation to the secondary system construction program or the urban system 
construction program for the locality in which the proffered cash payments were collected. The funds to 
which any locality may be entitled under the provisions of Title 33.2 for construction, improvement, or 
maintenance of primary, secondary, or urban roads shall not be diminished by reason of any funds 
remitted pursuant to this subsection by such locality, regardless of whether such contributions are 
matched by state or federal funds. 

B. The governing body of any locality eligible to accept any proffered cash payments pursuant to 
§ 15.2-2298,15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1 shall, for each fiscal year beginning with the fiscal year 2007, (i) 
include in its capital improvement program created pursuant to § 15.2-2239, or as an appendix thereto, 
the amount of all proffered cash payments received during the most recent fiscal year for which a report 
has been filed pursuant to subsection E, and (ii) include in its annual capital budget the amount of 
proffered cash payments projected to be used for expenditures or appropriated for  capital 
improvements in the ensuing year. 

C. Regardless of the date of rezoning approval, unless prohibited by the proffer agreement 
accepted by the governing body of a locality pursuant to § 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1, a 
locality may utilize any cash payments proffered for any road improvement or any transportation 
improvement that is incorporated into the capital improvements program as its matching contribution 
under § 33.2-357. For purposes of this section, "road improvement" includes construction of new roads 
or improvement or expansion of existing roads as required by applicable construction standards of the 
Virginia Department of Transportation to meet increased demand attributable to new development. For 
purposes of this section, "transportation improvement" means any real or personal property acquired, 
constructed, improved, or used for constructing, improving, or operating any (i) public mass transit 
system or (ii) highway, or portion or interchange thereof, including parking facilities located within a 
district created pursuant to this title. Such improvements shall include, without limitation, public mass 
transit systems, public highways, and all buildings, structures, approaches, and facilities thereof and 
appurtenances thereto, rights-of-way, bridges, tunnels, stations, terminals, and all related equipment 
and fixtures. 

Regardless of the date of rezoning approval, unless prohibited by the proffer agreement 
accepted by the governing body of a locality pursuant to § 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1, a 
locality may utilize any cash payments proffered for capital improvements for alternative improvements 
of the same category within the locality in the vicinity of the improvements for which the cash payments 
were originally made. Prior to utilization of such cash payments for the alternative improvements, the 
governing body of the locality shall give at least 30 days' written notice of the proposed alternative 
improvements to the entity who paid such cash payment mailed to the last known address of such 

DRAFT



entity, or if proffer payment records no longer exist, then to the original zoning applicant, and conduct a 
public hearing on such proposal advertised as provided in subsection F of § 15.2-1427. The governing 
body of the locality prior to the use of such cash payments for alternative improvements shall, following 
such public hearing, find: (a) the improvements for which the cash payments were proffered cannot 
occur in a timely manner or the functional purpose for which the cash payment was made no longer 
exists; (b) the alternative improvements are within the vicinity of the proposed improvements for which 
the cash payments were proffered; and (c) the alternative improvements are in the public interest. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Virginia Public Procurement Act, the governing body may 
negotiate and award a contract without competition to an entity that is constructing road improvements 
pursuant to a proffered zoning condition or special exception condition in order to expand the scope of 
the road improvements by utilizing cash proffers of others or other available locally generated funds. 
The local governing body shall adopt a resolution stating the basis for awarding the construction 
contract to extend the scope of the road improvements. All road improvements to be included in the 
state primary or secondary system of highways must conform to the adopted standards of the Virginia 
Department of Transportation. 

D. Notwithstanding any provision of this section or any other provision of law, general or special, 
no cash payment proffered pursuant to § 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1 shall be used for any 
capital improvement to an existing facility, such as a renovation or technology upgrade, that does not 
expand the capacity of such facility or for any operating expense of any existing facility such as ordinary 
maintenance or repair. 

E. The governing body of any locality with a population in excess of 3,500 persons accepting a 
cash payment voluntarily proffered pursuant to § 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1 shall  within 
three months of the close of each fiscal year, beginning in fiscal year 2002 and for each fiscal year 
thereafter, report to the Commission on Local Government the following information for the preceding 
fiscal year: 

1. The aggregate dollar amount of proffered cash payments collected by the locality; 
2. The estimated aggregate dollar amount of proffered cash payments that have been pledged to 
the locality and which pledges are not conditioned on any event other than time; and 
3. The  total  dollar  amount  of  proffered  cash  payments  expended  by  the  locality,  and  the 
aggregate dollar amount expended in each of the following categories: 

 

Schools $   
Road   and   other   Transportation    
Improvements    $   
Fire and Rescue/Public Safety $   
Libraries $   
Parks, Recreation, and Open Space $   
Water and Sewer Service Extension $   
Community Centers $   
Stormwater Management $   
Special Needs Housing $  
Affordable Housing $   
Miscellaneous $   
Total dollar amount expended $   

DRAFT



F. The governing body of any locality with a population in excess of 3,500 persons eligible to 
accept any proffered cash payments pursuant to § 15.2-2298, 15.2-2303, or 15.2-2303.1 but that did not 
accept any proffered cash payments during the preceding fiscal year shall within three months of the 
close of each fiscal year, beginning in 2001 and for each fiscal year thereafter, so notify the Commission 
on Local Government. 
G. The Commission on Local Government shall by November 30, 2001, and by November 30 of each 
fiscal year thereafter, prepare and make available to the public and the chairmen of the Senate Local 
Government Committee and the House Counties, Cities and Towns Committee an annual report 
containing the information made available to it pursuant to subsections E and F. 

DRAFT



APPENDIX B 

Localities Eligible by Statute to 
Accept Proffered Cash Payments in 

FY 2024 

DRAFT



CITIES 2000 2010 2020 COUNTIES (Cont'd) 2000 2010 2020
Alexandria IIC IIC IIC Appomattox IA IA IA
Bristol IB IB Arlington IID IID IID
Buena Vista IB IB Augusta IA IA IA
Charlottesville IA IB IA Bath IA ID
Chesapeake IA IA IA Bedford IA IA IA
Colonial Heights IA IB IB Bland IA
Covington IB Botetourt IA IA
Danville IB Brunswick IA
Emporia IA IB Buchanan
Fairfax IIC IIC IIC Buckingham IA IA ID
Falls Church IIC IIC IIC Campbell IA IA
Franklin IA IB IB Caroline IA IA IA
Fredericksburg IB IA IA Carroll IA
Galax IB Charles City IA ID ID
Hampton IA IB IB Charlotte IA ID
Harrisonburg IA IA IA Chesterfield IA IA IA
Hopewell IB IB IB Clarke ID IA IA
Lexington IB IB Craig IA ID
Lynchburg IB IA IB Culpeper IA IA IA
Manassas IIE IIE IIE Cumberland IA IA ID
Manassas Park IIE IIE IIE Dickenson
Martinsville Dinwiddie IA IA
Newport News IA IB IB Essex IA IA ID
Norfolk IB IB IB Fairfax IIA IIA IIA
Norton Fauquier IA IA IA
Petersburg IB IB IB Floyd IA IA
Poquoson IA IA IB Fluvanna IA IA IA
Portsmouth IB IB IB Franklin IA IA
Radford IB IB IB Frederick IA IA IA
Richmond IB IB IA Giles ID
Roanoke IB IB Gloucester IA IA IA
Salem IB IB Goochland IA IA IA
Staunton IB IB IA Grayson IA
Suffolk IA IA IA Greene IA IA IA
Virginia Beach IA IB IB Greensville IA IA
Waynesboro IA IA IA Halifax IA
Williamsburg IB IA IA Hanover IA IA IA
Winchester IA IA IA Henrico IA IA IA

Henry ID
COUNTIES 2000 2010 2020 Highland *
Accomack IIG IIG IIG Isle of Wight IA IA IA
Albemarle IA IA IA James City IA IA IA
Alleghany ID IA King and Queen IA ID ID
Amelia IA IA King George IA IA IA
Amherst IA ID King William IA IA IA

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

DRAFT



COUNTIES (Cont'd) 2000 2010 2020 TOWNS 2000 2010 2020
Lancaster IA ID Abingdon IA IA
Lee IA Accomac * IA
Loudoun IID IID IID Alberta * IC
Louisa IA IA IA Altavista * IC IC
Lunenburg IA Amherst * IA ID
Madison ID IA ID Appalachia *
Mathews IA Appomattox * IC IC IA
Mecklenburg IA Ashland IA IA IC
Middlesex IA IA Bedford IB IB IA
Montgomery IA IA IA Belle Haven * IA
Nelson IA ID ID Berryville ID IA IA
New Kent IIIA IIIA IIIA Big Stone Gap IA
Northampton IIG IIG IIG Blacksburg IA IA IA
Northumberland IA Blackstone * IA ID
Nottoway ID ID Bloxom * IA
Orange IA IA IA Bluefield IA
Page IA ID ID Boones Mill * IA IC IA
Patrick IA Bowling Green * IA IA IA
Pittsylvania IA ID Boyce * ID IA IA
Powhatan IA IA IA Boydton * IC
Prince Edward IA IA Boykins * ID IC
Prince George IA IA IA Branchville * IA IC
Prince William IID IID IID Bridgewater IA IA IA
Pulaski ID ID Broadway IA IA IA
Rappahannock IA IA ID Brodnax * IC
Richmond IA IA Brookneal * IC IC
Roanoke IA IA Buchanan * IC IC
Rockbridge IA IA Burkeville * ID ID
Rockingham IA IA IA Cape Charles * IA
Russell IA Capron * IA IC
Scott Cedar Bluff *
Shenandoah IA IA IA Charlotte Court House * IC IA
Smyth ID Chase City * IC
Southampton ID IA Chatham * IC ID
Spotsylvania IA IA IA Cheriton *
Stafford IA IA IA Chilhowie * ID
Surry IA ID ID Chincoteague * IA IA
Sussex IA ID Christiansburg IA IA IA
Tazewell Claremont * IC IA ID
Warren IA IA IA Clarksville * IA IA
Washington IA IA Cleveland * IC IA
Westmoreland IA ID IA Clifton * IIB IIB IIB
Wise Clifton Forge ID IC
Wythe IA IA Clinchco *
York IA IA IA Clinchport * IA

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

DRAFT



TOWNS (Cont'd) 2000 2010 2020 TOWNS (Cont'd) 2000 2010 2020
Clintwood * Iron Gate * ID IC
Coeburn * IA Irvington * IA ID IA
Colonial Beach IC IA IA Ivor * ID IA
Courtland * IA IC Jarratt * IA IA
Craigsville * IA IC IC Jonesville * IA IC
Crewe * ID ID Keller *
Culpeper IA IA IA Kenbridge * IC
Damascus * IA IC Keysville * IA ID
Dayton * IA IA IA Kilmarnock * IA IA
Dendron * IC ID ID La Crosse * IA
Dillwyn * IC IC ID Lawrenceville * IC IA
Drakes Branch * IC IA Lebanon * IC
Dublin * IA IA IA Leesburg IIF IIF IIF
Duffield * IA IA Louisa * IA IA IA
Dumfries IIF IIF IIF Lovettsville * IIF IIF IIF
Dungannon * IA Luray IA ID ID
Eastville * IA IA Madison * ID IA ID
Edinburg * IC IA IA Marion ID
Elkton * IA IA IA McKenney * IA IA
Exmore * IA Melfa * IA
Farmville IA IA ID Middleburg * IIF IIF IIF
Fincastle * IA IC IA Middletown * IC IA IA
Floyd * IA IC IA Mineral * IC IA IC
Fries * IC Monterey * IA
Front Royal IA IA IC Montross * IC IA IC
Gate City * Mount Crawford * IA IA IC
Glade Spring * IC IA Mount Jackson * IA IA IC
Glasgow * IC IA Narrows * ID
Glen Lyn * ID Nassawadox * IA
Gordonsville * IA IC IC New Castle * IA ID
Goshen * IA IC New Market * IA IA IC
Gretna * IC ID Newsoms * ID IA
Grottoes * IA IA IA Nickelsville * IA
Grundy * Occoquan * IIF IIF IIF
Halifax * IA Onancock * IA
Hallwood * IA Onley *
Hamilton * IIF IIF IIF Orange IA IA IC
Haymarket * IIF IIF IIF Painter * IA
Haysi * IA Pamplin City * IC IA IC
Herndon IIB IIB IIB Parksley * IA
Hillsboro * IIF IIF IIF Pearisburg * IA
Hillsville * IA IA Pembroke * IA
Honaker * IC IA Pennington Gap * IC
Hurt * IC ID Phenix * IC IA
Independence * IC IA Pocahontas *

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

DRAFT



TOWNS (Cont'd) 2000 2010 2020 TOWNS (Cont'd) 2000 2010 2020
Port Royal * IC IC IA Surry * IA ID ID
Pound * IA Tangier * IA
Pulaski ID ID Tappahannock * IA IA ID
Purcellville IIF IIF IIF Tazewell IA
Quantico * IIF IIF IIF The Plains * IA IC IA
Remington * IA IC IC Timberville * IA IA IA
Rich Creek * ID IA Toms Brook * IA IC IA
Richlands IA Troutdale * IA
Ridgeway * ID Troutville * IC IC IA
Rocky Mount IC IA Urbanna * IC IC
Round Hill * IIF IIF IIF Victoria * IC
Rural Retreat * IA IA Vienna IIB IIB IIB
Saltville * IC IC Vinton IC IC
Saxis * Virgilina * IC
Scottsburg * IC IA Wachapreague * IA
Scottsville * IA IC IC Wakefield * IC ID
Shenandoah * IC IA ID Warrenton IA IA IC
Smithfield IA IA IA Warsaw * IA IA IA
South Boston IA Washington * IC IC ID
South Hill IC IA Waverly * IC ID
St. Paul * IC Weber City *
Stanardsville * IA IC IC West Point * IC IA IC
Stanley * IA IA ID White Stone * IC ID IA
Stephens City * IC IA IA Windsor * IC IA IC
Stony Creek * IC ID IA Wise *
Strasburg IA IA IA Woodstock IA IA IA
Stuart * IC IA Wytheville IC IA

See "Notes" at end for explanation of "Principal Reason Eligible to Accept Cash Proffers."
Italicized localities have never qualified to collect cash proffers.

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

Principal Reason Eligible 
to Accept Cash Proffers

DRAFT



NOTES: 
 
* = Localities not required to report cash proffer activity. 2003 revisions to § 15.2-2303.2 
limited the requirement for the reporting on the acceptance of proffered cash payments 
to only those localities with a population in excess of 3,500 persons. Thus, all eligible cities 
and counties and only 22 of the 86 eligible towns are required to report proffered cash 
payments. 
 
 
Principal Reasons Eligible to Accept Cash Proffers 
 
I.  Eligibility for acceptance of cash proffers under § 15.2-2298 (high-growth localities): 

A. Any locality which had a decennial census growth rate of 5% or more;  
B. Any city adjoining another city or county which had a decennial census growth rate 
of 5% or more; 
C. Any towns located within a county which had a decennial census growth rate of 5% 
or more; and 
D. Any county contiguous with at least three counties which had decennial census 
growth rate of 5% or more, and any town located in that county. 

 
II. Eligibility for acceptance of cash proffers under § 15.2-2303: 

A. Any county with the urban county executive form of government (i.e. Fairfax 
County) 
B. Any town within Fairfax County; 
C. Any city adjacent to or completely surrounded by Fairfax County; 
D. Any county contiguous to Fairfax County 
E. Any city adjacent to or completely surrounded by a county contiguous to Fairfax 
County; 
F. Any town within a county contiguous to Fairfax County; and 
G. Any county east of the Chesapeake Bay 

 
III. Eligibility for acceptance of cash proffers under § 15.2-2303.1: 
     A. New Kent County 

 

DRAFT



APPENDIX C 

Survey Instrument for 
Local Government Revenues and Expenditures 

Derived from Cash Proffers 
FY 2024

DRAFT



Virginia Commission on Local Government:
Fiscal Year 2024 Cash Proffer Survey
Section 15.2-2303.2 of the Code of Virginia requires the Virginia Commission on Local Government to
annually survey the acceptance and use of cash proffers by eligible localities. The objective of the survey is
to assist the General Assembly in determining the amount of cash proffer revenues and expenditures of
local governments and the purposes for which such expenditures were made during Fiscal Year 2024 (July
1, 2023 - June 30, 2024). Accordingly, the Commission is asking the chief administrative officer or other
appropriate official in each affected county, city, and town to provide essential information about the
locality’s acceptance and use of cash proffers.

Please respond to this online questionnaire by September 30, 2024. Please ensure that only one
response is generated for your locality.

Information about the survey is also available on the Department of Housing and Community
Development’s website. The data that you furnish is essential for the preparation of a report that the
Commission is required to submit to the General Assembly by November 30, 2024.

If you have any questions concerning these matters, please contact Chase Sawyer at
chase.sawyer@dhcd.virginia.gov. Thank you for your cooperation.

Contact Name

Position/Title

Phone Number:

Email Address

Please provide your contact information: *

Locality Information

Please provide the following information:

Is the locality a county, city, or town? *

-- Please Select --

Locality Name  *

-- Please Select --

DRAFT

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title15.2/chapter22/section15.2-2303.2/
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/cash-proffers


A cash proffer is (i) any money voluntarily proffered in writing signed by the owner of property
subject to rezoning, submitted as part of a rezoning application and accepted by a locality
pursuant to the authority granted by Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-2303, or § 15.2-2298, or (ii) any
payment of money made pursuant to a development agreement entered into under authority
granted by Va. Code Ann. § 15.2-2303.1. This does NOT include cash contributions imposed
through conditional/provisional/special use permits as authorized by § 15.2-2286 (A)(3).

Schools

Roads and Other Transportation Improvements

Fire and Rescue/Public Safety

Libraries

Parks, Recreation, and Open Space

Did the locality accept cash proffers at any time during FY2024?

If "No" for FY2024, additional information is not needed. *

Enter the total amount of cash proffer revenue collected by the locality during FY2024:
This is the total dollar amount of revenue collected from cash proffers in the specified fiscal year regardless of the fiscal
year in which the cash proffer was accepted. Unaudited figures are acceptable.

Enter the estimated amount of cash proffers pledged during FY2024 by which payment is conditioned only
on time:

These are cash proffers conditioned only on time (i.e. linked to a specific date or specified time following rezoning
approval but NOT an unknown date such as at the time of certificate of occupancy) approved by the locality as part of a
rezoning case.  Unaudited figures for the specified fiscal year are acceptable.

Did the locality expend cash proffer revenue at any time during FY2024?

If "No" for FY2024, additional information is not needed. *

Enter the total amount of cash proffer revenue expended by the locality during FY2024:
This is the total dollar amount of public projects expended with cash proffer revenue in the specified fiscal year.
Unaudited figures are acceptable.

Indicate the purpose(s) and amount(s) (in whole numbers) for which the expenditures in the previous
question were made: *

The Total amount at the bottom should equal the amount reported in the cash proffer revenue expended box above.

DRAFT

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title15.2/chapter22/section15.2-2303/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title15.2/chapter22/section15.2-2298/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title15.2/chapter22/section15.2-2303.1/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title15.2/chapter22/section15.2-2286/


Water and Sewer Service Extension

Community Centers

Stormwater Management

Special Needs Housing

Affordable Housing

Miscellaneous

After hitting the "Submit" button a summary of your responses can be generated and printed for your
records.

Submit

Total : 0

Please share any additional comments regarding any unique circumstances surrounding the information
provided in this survey.

0%

DRAFT



APPENDIX D 

Summary of Survey Responses from Localities 
Accepting or Expending Cash Proffers 

FY2024 

DRAFT



Appendix D
Summary of Survey Responses from Localities Accepting Proffered Cash Payments 

Fiscal Year 2024

Locality
Total Cash Proffer 

Revenue Collected

Total Pledged But 
Payment Conditioned 

Only on Time
Total Cash Proffer 

Revenue Expended Schools

Roads and Other 
Transportation 
Improvements

Fire and 
Rescue/Public 

Safety Libraries

Parks, 
Recreation, and 

Open Space

Water and 
Sewer Service 

Extension
Community 

Centers
Stormwater 

Management
Special Needs 

Housing
Affordable 

Housing Miscellaneous
Counties
Albemarle 2,011,942$  2,011,942$  1,343,116$  1,269,517$          -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  73,599$                 -$  
Amelia 122,998$  122,998$  860,559$  -$  -$  60,524$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  800,035$              
Caroline 798,789$  798,789$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Chesterfield 1,978,694$  1,978,694$  8,961,507$  -$  8,024,370$          81,968$                 823,336$              31,833$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Clarke 531,456$  531,456$  531,456$  531,456$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Culpeper 869,720$  869,720$  521,848$  -$  -$  -$  -$  521,848$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Dinwiddie 10,217$  10,217$  3,906$  2,930$                    -$  977$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Fairfax 12,846,036$                   12,846,036$                   2,959,672$  1,343,164$          572,156$              127,782$              -$  916,569$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Fauquier 151,914$  151,914$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Fluvanna -$  -$  179,443$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  179,443$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Frederick 2,821,210$  2,821,210$  718,101$  -$  -$  299,000$              -$  419,101$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Gloucester 6,000$  6,000$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Goochland 2,012,354$  2,012,354$  774,860$  -$  774,860$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Greene -$  -$  48,291$  -$  23,691$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  24,600$                 
Hanover 1,802,575$  1,802,575$  430,179$  -$  430,179$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Isle of Wight 338,000$  338,000$  1,441,091$  1,441,091$          -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
James City 866,482$  866,482$  866,482$  509,949$              6,134$                    9,618$                    2,994$                    11,512$                 151,771$              6,134$                    -$  -$  168,370$              -$  
King William 126,958$  126,958$  842,877$  -$  842,877$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Loudoun 26,478,068$                   26,478,068$                   39,346,443$                   -$  5,604,950$          1,202,822$          9,755,351$          1,370,876$          -$  21,146,674$       -$  265,770$              -$  -$  
Louisa 36,168$  36,168$  36,168$  -$  -$  36,168$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Middlesex 1,978$  1,978$  1,978$  -$  -$  1,978$                    -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
New Kent 1,100,336$  1,100,336$  959,503$  165,112$              -$  794,391$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Powhatan 72,472$  72,472$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Prince George 20,000$  20,000$  46,275$  -$  -$  46,275$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Prince William 6,668,176$  6,668,176$  5,400,000$  3,240,000$          -$  -$  -$  2,160,000$          -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Rockingham -$  -$  32,450$  19,250$                 -$  13,200$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Southampton 7,080$  7,080$  7,080$  5,226$                    -$  -$  573$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  1,281$                    
Spotsylvania 1,445,603$  1,445,603$  1,015,656$  786,306$              121,165$              26,886$                 -$  713$  55,000$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  25,586$                 
Stafford 740,129$  740,129$  3,104,825$  2,206,858$          597,000$              222,174$              -$  78,794$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Warren -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

Total Counties 63,865,356$                   63,865,356$                   70,433,766$                   11,520,858$       16,997,383$       2,923,762$          10,582,254$       5,511,246$          386,214$              21,152,808$       -$  265,770$              241,969$              851,502$              
Cities
Chesapeake 310,412$  310,412$  1,059,035$  800,094$              -$  -$  258,941$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Fredericksburg -$  -$  44,336$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  44,336$                 
Manassas 423,724$  423,724$  157,911$  157,911$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Suffolk 472,031$  472,031$  306,096$  -$  306,096$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

Total Cities 1,206,167$  1,206,167$  1,567,377$  958,005$              306,096$              -$  258,941$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  44,336$                 
Towns
Culpeper 199,767$  199,767$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Dumfries 3,600,000$  3,600,000$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Leesburg 1,407,539$  1,407,539$  1,252,845$  791,801$              461,044$              -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Luray 109,888$  109,888$  19,329$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  19,329$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Purcellville 27,214$  27,214$  27,214$  -$  25,656$                 1,558$                    -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Smithfield 6,634$  6,634$  7,961$  -$  -$  7,961$                    -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Strasburg 28,000$  28,000$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

Total Towns 5,379,042$  5,379,042$  1,307,349$  791,801$              486,700$              9,519$                    -$  -$  19,329$                 -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

GRAND TOTAL 70,450,565$                   70,450,565$                   73,308,492$                   13,270,664$       17,790,178$       2,933,281$          10,841,195$       5,511,246$          405,543$              21,152,808$       -$  265,770$              241,969$              895,838$              

Purpose and Amount for Cash Proffer Expenditures

DRAFT



APPENDIX E 

Additional Charts Showing Trends in Statewide Cash Proffer Revenues and 
Expenditures 

FY 2000 through FY 2024 

DRAFT



$0

$20,000,000

$40,000,000

$60,000,000

$80,000,000

$100,000,000

$120,000,000

Cash Proffer Collections and Expenditures, FY2000-FY2024

Collections

Expenditures

DRAFT



0

10

20

30

40

50

60

FY 2000 FY 2002 FY 2004 FY 2006 FY 2008 FY 2010 FY 2012 FY 2014 FY 2016 FY2018 FY2020 FY2022

Localities Reporting Cash Proffer Activity, FY2000-FY2024

Towns

Cities

Counties

DRAFT



Note:  Data for cash proffer expenditures by category was not collected in FY's 2000-2002.

$0

$20,000,000

$40,000,000

$60,000,000

$80,000,000

$100,000,000

$120,000,000
Cash Proffer Expenditures by Category, FY2003-FY2024

Miscellaneous

Affordable Housing

Special Needs Housing

Stormwater Management

Community Centers

Water/Sewer Extensions

Parks & Recreation

Libraries

Public Safety

Roads

Schools

DRAFT



Note:  Data for cash proffer expenditures by category was not collected in FY's 2000-2002.

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000
Cash Proffer Expenditures by Category, FY2003-FY2024

Schools

Roads

Public Safety

Libraries

Parks & Recreation

Water/Sewer Extensions

Community Centers

Stormwater Management

Special Needs Housing

Affordable Housing

Miscellaneous

DRAFT



COMMISSION ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 

 

 At a regular meeting of the Commission on Local Government held in Richmond, 

Virginia, on Friday, November 1, 2024, at the hour of 10:00 a.m., the following resolution was 

unanimously adopted: 

 

WHEREAS, Diane M. Linderman, PE was appointed by Governor Terrence R. McAuliffe in 

2015 and confirmed by the Virginia General Assembly to serve on the Commission on Local 

Government for a term of five years; and 

 

WHEREAS, She was re-appointed by Governor Ralph S. Northam in 2020 and confirmed by the 

Virginia General Assembly to serve on the Commission on Local Government for a second term of 

five years; and 

 

WHEREAS, She served the Commission with distinction from January 2015, until December 

2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, During her tenure, she participated in eight cases that were brought before the 

Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, She was twice elected Chair of the Commission, serving in that capacity during 2017 

and 2022; and 

 

WHEREAS, as Chair in 2017, she oversaw the Commission’s Culpeper County citizen-initiated 

annexation case;  

 

WHEREAS, as Chair in 2022, she oversaw significant staffing changes within the Commission, 

modeling leadership, patience, and adaptability; and 

 

WHEREAS, Her commitment to the best interests of the Commonwealth and its localities coupled 

with her knowledge and experience in public works and municipal utilities made her an asset to this 

Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, Her effective advocacy of her perspectives, along with her respectful consideration of 

the views of others rendered her an invaluable participant in the Commission’s deliberations; and 

 

WHEREAS, Her intelligence, integrity, and dedication earned her the sincere respect and 

admiration of the members of this Commission, its staff, and all others associated with its activities; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Her good humor, her wit, and her graciousness added immeasurably to the pleasure 

and satisfaction derived from service on this Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, The termination of her service with the Commission deprives the Commonwealth of 

a distinguished and faithful public servant and this body of a valued member and good friend;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the Commission on Local Government does 

hereby express its gratitude to Diane Linderman, for her many contributions to this body and 

acknowledges with regret the loss of her company and good counsel.  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That a copy of this resolution be spread upon the Minutes of this 

meeting and that a framed copy thereof be presented to Diane Linderman, as a permanent 

testament of our affection, esteem, and high regard. 

 

 

      ________________________________ 

      Edwin Rosado, Chair 

 

 

      ________________________________ 

  Robert Lauterberg, Vice-Chair 

 

 

      ________________________________ 

Ceasor Johnson, D.Min 

 

 

________________________________ 

       Terry Payne 

      



COMMISSION ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 

 

 At a regular meeting of the Commission on Local Government held in Richmond, 

Virginia on Friday, November 1, 2024, at the hour of 11:00 a.m., the following resolution 

was unanimously adopted: 

 

WHEREAS, Grace Wheaton served the Commission on Local Government with 

distinction for three years from July 2021 to July 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, During her years of service to the Commission, she worked with eight 

Commissioners; and 

 

WHEREAS, She assisted the Commission with its reports on the Martinsville-Henry 

County Voluntary Settlement Agreement, the New Market-Shenandoah County Voluntary 

Settlement Agreement, The Martinsville-Henry County Economic Growth Sharing 

Agreement, the Leesburg-Loudoun County Voluntary Settlement Agreement, the 

Washington-Rappahannock Voluntary Settlement Agreement, and numerous other 

reports, projects, and studies; and 

 

WHEREAS, She took full ownership of the Commission’s Fiscal Stress Report by 

improving the data collection processes and making it easier for the public and the 

Commission to use and understand; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Commission has been a direct beneficiary of her knowledge of local 

government finance, statistics, and data collection methods such that many projects and 

reports that occurred during her tenure would not have been possible without her; and 

 

WHEREAS, Her dedication to efficiency and quality served as a model for those engaged 

in public service; and 

 

WHEREAS, Her knowledge, professionalism, and commitment have earned her the 

respect and admiration of all the members of this Commission, State and local officials 

throughout Virginia, and others who have had the good fortune of her association;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the Commission on Local Government 

does hereby express its gratitude to Grace Wheaton for her many contributions to this 

body and for her enhancement of the professional and personal lives of all who have been 

associated with her; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That a copy of this resolution be spread upon the 

Minutes of this meeting and that the resolution be presented to Grace Wheaton as a 

permanent testament of our affection, esteem, and high regard. 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

      Edwin Rosado, Chair 

 

      ________________________________ 

  Robert Lauterberg, Vice-Chair 

 

      ________________________________ 

Diane M. Linderman, PE  

 

________________________________ 

      Ceasor Johnson, D. Min 

    

 ________________________________ 

      Terry Payne 

 

   



 
 

 

Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development | Partners for Better Communities 
Main Street Centre | 600 East Main Street, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23219 
www.dhcd.virginia.gov | Phone (804) 371-7000 | Fax (804) 371-7090 | Virginia Relay 7-1-1   

Commission on Local Government Proposed 2025 Regular Meeting Dates 

 

Dear Commissioners, 

 

In keeping with regular Commission practice, staff is proposing that the Commission’s 

regular meetings continue to be held on the first Friday of each odd-numbered month. The 

standard meeting time will be from 10:00 am to noon and lunch will be provided at in-person 

meetings. The location for in-person meetings is to be determined. 

 

The proposed meeting dates are: 

 

Friday, January 3 

Friday, March 7* 

Friday, May 2 

Friday, July 11* 

Friday, September 5 

Friday, November 7* 

 

*Proposed as potential all-virtual meeting  

 

Please let us know at the meeting if you have conflicts with these dates, and we will adjust them 

as necessary. 

 


	AgendaMemo-11.1.24.pdf
	Draft-agenda-11.1.24.pdf
	draft-clg-minutes-september.pdf
	DRAFT-Minutes-Oral-Presentations-9.16.24.pdf
	Town of Warrenton – Fauquier County
	Oral Presentations of Voluntary Settlement Agreement
	Commission on Local Government
	September 16th, 2024
	1:00 PM
	Warrenton Townhall
	Warrenton, VA
	Mr. Northcutt gave an overview of the Commission’s review of the voluntary settlement agreement (VSA) between the Town of Warrenton and Fauquier County. 
	A motion was made by Ms. Linderman and seconded by Mr. Payne to close the record for public comment on September 30th, 2024. The motion passed unanimously on a voice vote (YEAS: Rosado, Linderman, Payne, Lauterburg, NAYS: None). 
	Mr. John Foote, attorney for the developer, Van Meter Companies, gave an opening statement explaining the history of the agreement and that there was support for the VSA among the developer and both localities. 
	Mr. Roy Barnett, Group President, Land Acquisition and Planning for Van Meter Companies, presented on the technical aspects of the development plan on the site that would be annexed by the Town. The goal of Van Meter Companies is to provide a high-quality residential and commercial development that meets the housing needs of the Town, specifically housing for families and seniors, while protecting the environment and natural views of the area. He highlighted plans to mitigate flooding on the site, plans to build housing for certain income groups, a food pantry and office space for senior services.
	Ms. Linderman asked about the water supply running to the development. Mr. Barnett responded that the property has several wells, one of which meets the requirements for a public water source. That well will be given to the Town if the annexation is approved. 
	Ms. Linderman also asked why the developer had to be a party to the agreement. Mr. Foote responded that the developer’s commitment to replace the Taylor Run pump station, along with other issues in the agreement, required them to be parties to the contract. 
	Mr. Payne asked for additional information about why the age 45-55 demographic is decreasing in the Town while other age ranges are increasing. Mr. Barnett answered that, because the population is growing seven times faster than the housing construction, growing families cannot find houses in the Town, and are moving away. 
	Mr. Lauterberg asked for clarification of what the developer was proffering with respect to the expansion of Alwington Boulevard.
	Mr. Northcutt, staff for the Commission, confirmed with Mr. Barnett that all properties that lie between the development and the current Town boundary have been included in the VSA, but that the easement for extending Alwington Boulevard beyond the development is a separate agreement. 
	Mr. Foote gave a closing statement, again expressing each party’s support for the VSA. 
	Mr. Rosado gave closing remarks on behalf of the Commission. 
	Mr. Northcutt shared the Commission will issue a report on the VSA on November 1, 2024. A public hearing on the Warrenton and Fauquier VSA will be held at 7:00 PM. 

	draft-minutes-W&F-pubic-hearing-9.16.24.pdf
	Town of Warrenton – Fauquier County
	Public Hearing
	Commission on Local Government
	September 16, 2024
	7:00 PM
	Warrenton Townhall
	Warrenton, VA
	Mr. Rosado introduced members of the Commission and staff. 
	Mr. Legrand Northcutt, Senior Policy Analyst, DHCD, gave an overview of the Commission’s review of the voluntary settlement agreement (VSA) between the Town of Warrenton and Fauquier County. The public comment period is open until September 30, 2024. The Commission will issue a report on November 1, 2024. 
	Mr. Rosado opened the floor for public testimony. 
	Ms. Cindy Burbank, resident of the Town representing Project Fauquier, spoke against the agreement, noting that while the project itself will not strain any local resources, the cumulative impact of all approved projects in the Town will have an adverse impact that needs to be accounted for. 
	Robert Lee, former County Administrator in Fauquier County and current member of the County Planning District Commission for the Marshall Magisterial district, spoke in favor of the agreement and the development, noting that it is a well-desigend community and a model for cooperative development between a developer, the Town and the County. 
	David Horden, former member of the Town Council spoke against the agreement. Mr. Horden noted that the Town’s sewer system is almost at capacity and asked the Commission to consider the cost of and legal obstacles to future upgrades to the system.
	Ken Alm, former member of the Town and County Planning Commission, supported the agreement and praised the localities for working on this and noted that this development. He believes that it is the best proposed development of the Arrington property that he has seen. The development is also in accordance with the County’s comprehensive plan for urban development in the area.
	Larry Covalac, former member of the Fauquier County Planning District Commission, expressed concerns with the agreement. While the project has merits, he does not believe that the Town should be pursuing large, transformational projects. He is also concerned about increased traffic and has not seen a traffic impact analysis. 
	Mr, Rosado gave a closing comment and expressed his appreciation to the Town, County, and members of the public who spoke at the hearing. 
	A motion was made by Mr. Lauterberg and seconded by Mr. Payne to adjourn the public hearing; The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote (YEAS: Rosado, Linderman, Payne, Lauterburg, NAYS: None). The meeting adjourned at 7:26 PM. 

	Rocky Mount eyes expansion_ Almost $160...pdf
	With WJCC separation still unsettled, J...pdf
	FINAL-warrenton-fauquier-VSA-10.25.24.pdf
	Appendix A.pdf
	Public Comment-Lee.pdf
	Public Comment-Carter.pdf
	Carter Neville-comment-9.16.24.pdf
	David Norden-comment-9.16.24.pdf
	Friend-town additional info-9.16.24.pdf
	Barnett-town additional info-1-9.23.24.pdf
	Barnett-town additional info-2-9.18.24.pdf
	CLG-Letter to Town of Warrenton-9.23.24.pdf
	FULL-Crim-town additional info-9.26.24.pdf


	DRAFT-Cash Proffer Report FY24.pdf
	Appendix D- Summary Statistics FY24.pdf
	Appendix D

	Appendix E-Chart 1.pdf
	Chart 1

	Appendix E-Chart 4.pdf
	Chart 4

	Appendix E-Chart 3.pdf
	Chart 3

	Appendix E-Chart 2.pdf
	Chart 2


	Linderman Resolution.pdf
	Wheaton Resolution.pdf
	proposed meeting dates-2025.pdf



